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ABOUT THE COMPANY }

For a quarter century, SigmaTron International, Inc. (SlI) continues

as an Electronic Manufacturing Services (EMS) provider of printed
circuit board assemblies and completely assembled box-build electronic
products to customers in three diverse end-user markets: Consumer,
Industrial and Medical/Life Sciences. We offer differentiated services
through a global network of seven manufacturing facilities in the )

United States, Mexico, China and Vietnam, with a companywide ..
International Procurement Office (IPO) in Taiwan. The Company

provides superior EMS value from engineering and design services I

to component sourcing at internationally-competitive pricing,
manufacturing, test and fulfillment.

s

Again in fiscal year 2019, SigmaTron
(Nasdaq: SGMA) expanded manufacturing
services of mission-critical, box-build
products that support global customers in
each of the three markets the Company
serves. Shown here is manufacturing
underway for a global market leader in
the medical/life sciences sector.
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TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS,

For SigmaTron International, Inc. (SlI), fiscal year 2019 presented a number
of strong headwinds to which the Company responded. Yet during this
volatile year—ranging from labor and tariffs to supply chain variables and
rising interest rates—the Company’s steady hand, competitive differentiation
and decades-long operating philosophy translated to program growth and
stability in the customer markets we serve.

For FY19, the U.S. economy grew at 3.2%, the unemployment rate (3.6%)
dropped to its lowest level since December 1969, and consumer confidence
reached an 18-year high in 2018. Though the GDP held steady at 2.9%
during FY19, Sl plans to remain vigilant. Factors that leveled off optimism
include a tapering by both the U.S. economy and U.S. corporate profits by
our April 30 year-end, each amid an escalation in trade tensions between
the U.S. and China.

FY 2019 FINANCIAL RESULTS SIGNAL MOMENTUM, FUEL OPTIMISM

The Company reports FY19 revenues increased to $290.5 million compared
to $278.1 million in the prior fiscal year. In FY19, net income increased

to a net loss of $865,114 compared to a net loss of $3.2 million for FY18.
The Company reported a solid pretax profit of $1.7 million for its fourth
quarter with a pretax profit of $866,000 for FY19. Fourth quarter revenues
increased to $73.3 million compared to $68.2 million for the same quarter
in the prior fiscal year. These results are largely attributable to stronger
revenues and pricing improvements. Included in SlI's annual performance
was a noncash expense for currency fluctuations of $434,000. Also, we
recorded tax allowances that were set to expire which resulted in a noncash
expense of $942,000.

INDUSTRYWIDE GEOPOLITICAL, LABOR AND SUPPLY CHAIN FACTORS
AFFECT RESULTS

With roots in the previous fiscal year and affecting all EMS customers and
programs, industrywide issues slowed performance for three quarters of
FY19 but were mitigated by the Company.

= Historic Geopolitical Tensions — U.S.-China trade renegotiations caused
significant uncertainty and a number of risks to the three markets that
our customers operate in and, subsequently, to SigmaTron. The U.S. had
also already initiated trade talks to potentially replace NAFTA with the
United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement (USMCA).

= Rise in Mexico’s Minimum Wages — During third quarter FY19, Mexico's
new president mandated significant minimum wage increases that affected
our three Mexico facilities.
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SENSATA TECHNOLOGIES M ﬁ

COLLABORATING WITH SENSATA TECHNOLOGIES ON HIGH-TECH
ARMRESTS FOR THE HEAVY VEHICLE OFF ROAD (HVOR) MARKET

Founded in 1916, Sensata Technologies (NYSE: ST) is now
a $3.5 billion world-leading OEM of patented sensing,
electrical protection, control and power management with
47,000 unique products. Internationally, products range
from automotive braking systems to aircraft flight controls.

Following six months of joint new product development,
Sensata’s team and SigmaTron International (SlI)
teams in North America collaborated to manufacture a

next-generation armrest for the fast growing HVOR market.

These armrests are featured upgrades in internationally
recognized brands of high- and medium-horsepower
row croppers and sprayer tractors and the 4-wheel drive
tractor shown here.

Throughout FY19, Sll continued earlier manufacturing

a0

support for dozens of Sensata products that feature
high-complexity printed circuit board assemblies (PCBAs)
with custom wire and harness cable assemblies. Amid SlI’s
proprietary, integrated systems, Sensata’s EMS programs
pursue the highest standards of quality. Our Kanban
production processes also aligned to net reduced lead
times, increased production flexibility and on-time delivery.

Other noteworthy program hallmarks include continuous
communications between Sll and Sensata core
program teams in the U.S. and Mexico to review progress
and speed solutions to potential challenges. Sll expects
to continue leveraging expertise for Sensata in
high-complexity/high mix PCBAs and box-builds in

FY20 and for the long term.
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= Improving, Yet Persistent, Supply Chain Volatility — Noted in FY18 and while tapering in
FY19, fluctuations and shortages in the global components and raw materials markets
continued. To respond, SII's International Procurement Office (IPO) again deployed strategies
that reduced the effects and secured components for our customer programs globally.

Addressing these unique challenges head-on, the Company posted a modest pretax profit
by fiscal year-end and is pleased to report at least three drivers of optimism that shape our
outlook for fiscal year 2020.

= One Source. Global Options® Positioning. — SlI continues to offer customers a dynamic
and flexible global manufacturing network of seven facilities in three countries. Customers
may manufacture in one or more operations, to meet EMS program goals of cost, quality
and time-to-market.

= Strength, Longevity in Customer Relationships — Featured in FY19 and previously,
the number of industry-leading customers that SlI has retained for 10 or more years is
growing with some as long as 33 years. Even as customers across markets faced
industry challenges, Sll critically responded with customized EMS solutions, further
strengthening relationships long term.

= Customer Pipeline of Expanded and New Programs — Beginning the prior fiscal year and
reported in FY19, Sll attracted a number of new programs in each of the markets we serve.
We expect sustained momentum to be driven by new and expanded existing programs in
queue for FY20.

DIFFERENTIATED, VALUED SERVICES: SII INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY,
INTERNATIONAL PROCUREMENT OFFICE AND DESIGN SERVICES
Sigmalron’s customers continue to value our service array in direct proportion to the
OEM challenges they face.

Information Technology (SII IT)

SII's IT services headquartered in Elk Grove Village, lllinois, and from a second location in
Taichung City, Taiwan, provide key differentiation through proprietary systems and real-time
24/'7 process visibility extending from a central point of contact. For FY19, SII IT expanded
or upgraded at least six high-tech drivers of lean, agile and automated manufacturing
(“smart manufacturing”) benefiting each operation.

*Increased EMS Execution Efficiencies — To improve production output, SII IT integrated
the Company's corrective and preventative action (CAPA) with existing manufacturing execution
systems (MES) which connects, monitors and controls complex factory data flows.

= Redesigned Electronic Data Interchange - IT synthesized the electronic exchange of
business documents (EDI) that aligns the Company with changes to our customers’
computer systems.

*Updated Automation Modules — |T added automated modules such as in “first in, first out”
(FIFO) picking and return to stock, along with quality control tracking systems.

» Enhanced Tariff Tracking and Billing Systems — Amid an escalation in U.S.-China trade
tensions, our IT services instituted upgrades to our automated tariff tracking and billing
systems companywide.

=Hardened Cybersecurity — SII IT also drove the latest safeguards 24/7 to protect against
attempted theft or damage to our electronic data and to shield SlI from disruption or
misdirection of the services we provide.

= Enhanced Proprietary SCORE™ — In FY19, IT began enhancements to SIl SCORE,
the Company'’s proprietary customer portal. The updates further customers’ remote
access to their data.
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SigmaTron’s investment in Surface
Mount Technology netted well
over 50—and growing—SMT

lines. Shown is the equipment’s
automated wave-soldering stage
for an industrial EMS program.
This and other technology
capabilities exemplify the higher-
level automation and efficiency
being driven by SII.

For over 25 years from seven
manufacturing facilities in four
countries, SigmaTron delivers
flexible, high quality EMS programs.
Our new product introduction process
promotes cost savings, optimized
time-to-market and field reliability
for even the most technologically
sophisticated customers.




International Procurement Office (IPO)

SlI's IPO located in Taipei City, Taiwan, offers decades of experienced supply chain services for customers
in each of our global operations. We help customers navigate positive outcomes following a leveling off, yet
continuation, of prior years' industrywide challenges, including:

* Global Trade Tensions — When the ebb and flow of geopolitical, commercial and trade tensions escalated this
year, our experienced IPO assisted customers of all sizes in managing and minimizing any lasting effects.

= Component Market Volatility — Our IPO also helped to secure components in a tightened marketplace.

* Tariffs on Exported Raw Materials — We mitigated certain supply chain shocks that stemmed from 10% to
25% tariffs assessed on many exported Chinese electronic components and raw materials, many of them
common in EMS programs.

From this backdrop, SlI's IPO offers customers a number of key advantages:

* Proprietary IT Systems To Streamline Tariff Administration — We employ SlI's proprietary data collection
systems to both record and manage direct tariff charges flowing from suppliers, freight carriers and U.S.
Customs. We aid customers by verifying costs. For certain customers, products made in SlI's Mexico facilities
may qualify to receive NAFTA duty-free status when entering the U.S.

*Tools and IT Systems That Support Forecasting, Secure Materials — Facing more than 24 months of prior
supply chain volatility, our IPO responded. We offer customers added forecast visibility and tools that help secure
material for current and future programs. Our Taiwan-based IPO benefits, too, from SigmaTron’s integrated
ERP system to effectively procure even remotely-located materials.

* Global Options® and Manufacturing Flexibility — Our IPO closely aligned its network of Southeast Asian suppliers
to fastchanging program needs. We helped minimize the effects of rising costs, addressed uneven availability of
raw materials and components, and managed other factors such as tariffs.

* Our Taiwan-based Green Compliance Service Center (GCSC) — Again in FY19, certain SigmaTron customers
increasingly sought our GCSC's services to meet government-driven compliance regulations that pertain to the
environment and human health, e.g,, RoHS and REACH.

Design Services Center (DSC)

From its hub in Elgin, Illinois, and serving all operations companywide, our DSC continues as a highly valued
driver of Design for Manufacturability and Testability (DFx). Building upon 20-plus years of proven experience,
this capability provides high quality, cost effectiveness, expedited time-to-market, and field reliability—each
cited by customers as critical to EMS program wins.

During FY19, SII's DSC also moved past certain customer mandates for internal-only design to attract new
and expanded programs. These include NYSE-traded market leaders in industrial products, water treatment,
agriculture, home and commercial appliances, and spa. During FY20, Design Services will again target
customers who value design and process efficiency.

SIGMATRON UNITED STATES

In FY19, our strategically located manufacturing facilities in Elk Grove Village (EGV), lllinois, (Company
headquarters) and in Union City (UC), California, drove flexible and efficient EMS solutions systemwide. Meeting
a prior year's goal, these divisions reported a significant number of new program wins for North America and
expanded business in each of the markets we serve—especially in medical/life sciences and industrial.

EGV's services for noteworthy category leaders ranged from new product introduction (NPI) and supply chain
establishment for many dozens of high-level PCBA programs and complex box-builds. The operation also
transitioned several new programs from early-stage to full-volume production with continuous backfilling for
subsequent programs.

This facility invested in advanced technologies that support complete production, traceability and inspection with
enhanced DFx and Manufacturing Bill of Materials (MBOM) lifecycle analysis that reduce costs. EGV continued its
focus on high-level assembly and complete product builds, while deepening a number of long-term strategic partnerships.
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DIFFERENTIATED VALUE ACROSS DIVISIONS:
SIGMATRON’S INTEGRATED IT SERVICES

Our “One Source. Global Options.®” philosophy

provides SigmaTron customers with an arc of regional
centers of excellence—each certified by specific industry
requirements. With our proprietary manufacturing
execution system (MES) and monitors in each facility,
Program Managers and their Customer Focus Teams

view integrated real-time progress on our manufacturing
lines. Our IT systems help to seamlessly coordinate
manufacturing, monitor employee productivity and view
ongoing program statistics, as well as ramp up (or down)
manufacturing volumes and track finished goods.
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SIGMATRON ADDOS EMS VALUE TO NEARLY 40

INNOVATIVE WELD PROGRAMS

Miller Electric Mfg. LLC, celebrating 90 years, is the
world’s largest manufacturer of arc welding products and
wholly owned by lllinois Tool Works (NYSE: ITW). Miller®
maintains its industry-leading welding solutions through
highly innovative technologies with specific focus

on productivity, quality and ease of use behind very
strong brands.

Beginning in fiscal year 2017, collaboration began
between Miller and SigmaTron International (SlI) that
initially involved the transfer of a single EMS program-—
the redesign of a legacy model MIG category welder.
Subsequently, Miller transferred nearly 40 additional
programs to Sll. For all Miller programs, our Acuha,
Mexico facility provides manufacturing with our

Elk Grove Village operation contributing seamless
product management support.

For each program and at every critical stage of the EMS
lifecycle, Miller benefits from SlI’s full range of services.
Program hallmarks included our resolution of Miller’s
internal supply chain and PCBA documentation, with
honed data now in use long term. Sll provided new product
introduction expertise and Bus Functional Model—the
software model of an integrated circuit—among other
turnkey services. For the representative product shown
here and across all programs, our in-circuit and functional
testing proved both right-priced and critical to final quality.

For Miller’'s new game-changing welding technologies,
Sll served as the EMS provider of choice to transition
numerous “captive” programs in FY19. In FY20 we expect
to continue optimizing design and manufacturing,
including electro-mechanical assembly, for many new
Miller innovations.

Photo: © 2019 Miller Electric Mfg., LLC. Used with permission. All rights reserved.



Our UC operation continued support to a number of regional customers who benefit from
the West Coast'’s proximity to our manufacturing operations in Mexico. The operation
again expanded service to a number of existing high-complexity programs for regional
and global industrial, gaming and medical/life sciences customers.

SIGMATRON MEXICO

In FY19, the Company’s three Mexico plants—Acuiia, Chihuahua and Tijuana—continued
as effective, alternative manufacturing sites in our diverse global footprint. SigmaTron
Mexico offers lower cost, experienced and high-tech manufacturing, along with ease of
access to three of our regional warehouses based in Texas and California. SIl Mexico
provides an alternative to customers who are navigating both the direct and administrative
costs of U.S.-imposed tariffs on Chinese exports that began in the first quarter of FY19.

SigmalTron Acufia, our longest established and most experienced Mexico operation,
collaborated with other regions to attract new customers and to expand several existing
EMS programs. SlI Acufia's noteworthy growth represents all markets and in FY19
encompassed a pair of NYSE-traded leaders in the consumer and industrial sectors. The
operation, along with sister operations, continues investment in advanced systems and
software that include Automated Inspection Equipment (AOI), inventory management,
3D inline inspection, next level in-circuit testing, and other improvements to best support
fast changing or ramped up manufacturing volumes.

SigmaTron Chihuahua also served a steady stream of existing regional programs while
attracting new customers, especially industry leaders in consumer markets, and expects
to launch many into production in FY20. Sl Chihuahua will build on core business in the
consumer sector while further diversifying into industrial markets. The operation also
initiated the process for ISO 13485 (medical) certification. A nod to quality standards
met in FY19, the operation was named a “Grade A-Global Supplier” by the world's second
largest appliance maker.

SigmaTron Tijuana (TJ) has a track record of success in EMS programs that require
lower cost EMS production and high process efficiency as volumes ramp up. Building
upon goals achieved the prior year, Sll TJ invested in enhanced process improvements,
automation and inventory management systems, each critical to customers’ demands
for fast changing runs. In FY19, Tijuana continued “Six-Sigma Green Belt” training,

the internationally recognized, phased approach of tools and statistical methodologies
to enhance manufacturing efficiency.

Looking ahead to FY20, SIl Mexico’s three seasoned manufacturing sites expect to remain
a competitive EMS manufacturing alternative within our attractive global footprint.

SIGMATRON ASIA

As in the prior year, SigmaTron China focused on business expansion in the Chinese market,
doubling its local market revenue. Our Suzhou, China, operation collaborated with other
global operations to expand and win high mix, low volume EMS programs. In FY19, the
region built upon a 12-year average tenure with major customers—significantly expanding
business in all three diverse markets we serve. In the third quarter of FY18, Sl China
received a “Best Supplier of the Year” award from a 100-year-old, Fortune 500 company.

SlI China managed the business amid well-publicized trade tensions between the U.S.
and China, beginning in July 2018 with up to 25% tariffs imposed by the U.S. by May
2019. While these tariffs pose certain risks, particularly for shipments to the U.S,,
the operation will continue to pursue alternative growth opportunities regionally and
internationally with businesses that ship into China from the U.S.
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Surface mounting lends itself well
to a high degree of automation,
reducing labor costs and greatly
increasing production rates. SlI
pursues innovative technology and
continuous process enhancements
that support the production of
advanced, fully automated circuit
assembly technologies.

As part of our customers’
seamless experience, their EMS
programs benefit from a Director
of Quality and Compliance and

a Quality Manager, both resident
in every manufacturing facility.
Together, they promote the highest
quality standards from stations
at each production stage and via
Automated Optical Inspection
(AOI) systems that enhance net
yields and quality.




Meeting a prior fiscal year's goal, SIl China achieved IATF (automotive) certification and advanced a number of
quality and continuous improvement strategies to further increase productivity and reduce costs. In FY19, the
operation also executed over 100 DFM analyses to support customers globally while serving the NPI stages for
twice that many.

For FY20, Sl China will continue to invest in next-level equipment and software systems that shorten design
for DFM analysis turnarounds and align with current governmental standards and environmental rules. Also,
the operation will help customers to manage forecasting uncertainties that characterize the current business
environment and in FY20 will maintain its focus on customers who value quality, service and growth.

In FY19, following over two decades of service, SigmaTron’s International Procurement Office (IPO) in
Taipei City, Taiwan, again contributed high value for customers and provided required raw materials sourcing
and components for initial program quantities and as manufacturing needs scaled up. SlI's IPO helps evaluate
supplier quality and manages companywide needs for comprehensive sourcing and procurement from among
global component suppliers and mid-sized technology firms in Southeast Asia.

Sl IPO’s inventory systems offer customers buying transparency and resources that identify Sli-to-customer
supply chain commonalities and also manage the communications accompanying complex regional business
transactions. In FY20 and beyond, we expect that our IPO will rebalance procurement efforts to offset
shortened response times.

Since SllI's establishment of the Bién Hoa City, Vietnam operation in 2005, it continues to serve EMS customers
who value proven insights into the region and a strategically located, reduced-cost manufacturing operation.
SigmaTron Vietnam remains a key dimension of our Asian footprint and, in FY19, was increasingly valued as an
alternative offshore manufacturing locale in the region amid U.S.-China trade tensions.

Again, in FY19, the operation’s highly competitive labor costs supported a number of noteworthy new programs in the
consumer sector for U.S.- and Europe-based market leaders who rank first and second largest in their categories.

Receiving high marks following a pair of quality/process audits, Sl Vietnam launched a number of significant
EMS programs for major customers begun in FY19 with production well into FY20. In FY19, the operation
redesigned a decades-in-use legacy appliance control, a portable appliance subsector program, and added
business in the smart-pet consumer category. Common to each, Sl Vietnam responded with minimal lead times
and met aggressive time-to-market goals that included a steep, ramp up and down demand in manufactured
volumes. In FY20, the operation will continue to diversify beyond its highly valued core consumer market business
and plans to expand technology that supports automation and quality.

SERVING CUSTOMERS FROM MULTIPLE STRENGTHS

In the year ahead, and no matter the geopolitical challenges worldwide, we will continue a disciplined pursuit of
EMS excellence in each facet of our business. Our customers deserve nothing less. SlI will continue to leverage a
quarter century of EMS expertise paired with flexible manufacturing solutions and exceptional customer support.
With this strategy and the harmonized business strengths, sharpened processes in place, and proprietary IT and
supply chain systems, we are well-positioned to capture new opportunities and achieve growth in the three diverse
markets we serve.

| wish to thank our more than 3,000 employees for their hard work, commitment and ingenuity in providing EMS
solutions that enable customers to excel in their markets. On their behalf, | also thank our customers, supply chain
partners, professional firms and our Board of Directors for their ongoing support and confidence in SigmaTron.

Sincerely,

Gary R. Fairhead

President and Chief Executive Officer
SigmaTron International, Inc.

August 16,2019
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
CAUTIONARY NOTE:

In addition to historical financial information,ishdiscussion of the business of SigmaTron Intéonat, Inc.
(“SigmaTron”), its wholly-owned subsidiaries Stardi&€omponents de Mexico S.A., AbleMex, S.A. de C.V.
Digital Appliance Controls de Mexico, S.A. de C.8pitfire Controls (Vietham) Co. Ltd., Spitfire Cools
(Cayman) Co. Ltd., wholly-owned foreign enterpri¥ésjiang SigmaTron Electronics Co., Ltd. and Sigmair
Electronic Technology Co., Ltd. (collectively, “®n@Tron China”) and international procurement office
SigmaTron Taiwan branch (collectively, the “Compgrand other Items in this Annual Report on FormKLO
contain forward-looking statements concerning tbenany’s business or results of operations. Wsuodh as
“continue,” “anticipate,” “will,” “expect,” “beliewe,” “plan,” and similar expressions identify forwalooking
statements. These forward-looking statementsasedon the current expectations of the Compargalse
these forward-looking statements involve risks andertainties, the Company’s plans, actions anabact
results could differ materially. Such statemeiizutd be evaluated in the context of the risks amekrtainties
inherent in the Company’s business including, mitmecessarily limited to, the Company’s continued
dependence on certain significant customers; théraged market acceptance of products and seruitteed
by the Company and its customers; pricing pressuoes the Company’s customers, suppliers and théena
the activities of competitors, some of which mayengreater financial or other resources than thegzmy;
the variability of our operating results; the immpaént of long-lived assets; the variability of @uwstomers’
requirements; the availability and cost of necgssamponents and materials; the ability of the Canypand
our customers to keep current with technologicalngfes within our industries; regulatory compliance,
including conflict minerals; the continued availéigiand sufficiency of our credit arrangementsacbes in
U.S., Mexican, Chinese, Vietnamese or Taiwanesalaggns affecting the Company’s business; the tilrm
the global economy and financial markets; the tghif the U.S., Mexican, Chinese, Viethamese and
Taiwanese economic, labor and political systemscamdiitions; the impact of tariffs; currency excban
fluctuations; and the ability of the Company to g its growth. These and other factors which affgct
the Company’s future business and results of opeimare identified throughout the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, and as risk factors, may liailbel from time to time in the Company’s filingstiwthe
Securities and Exchange Commission. These statsrapeak as of the date of such filings, and theg2my
undertakes no obligation to update such statenietitght of future events or otherwise unless otise
required by law.

Overview

SigmaTron is a Delaware corporation, which was oigd on November 16, 1993, and commenced opesation
when it became the successor to all of the asgsdtiabilities of SigmaTron L.P., an lllinois lineit
partnership, through a reorganization on Februat94.

The Company operates in one business segmentiagdegrendent provider of electronic manufacturing
services (“EMS”), which includes printed circuitdrd assemblies and completely assembled (box-build)
electronic products. In connection with the pradurcof assembled products, the Company also pesvid
services to its customers, including (1) automatid manual assembly and testing of products; (2¢nah
sourcing and procurement; (3) manufacturing andelegineering support; (4) design services; (5)elausing
and distribution services; and (6) assistance tainimg product approval from governmental and pthe
regulatory bodies. The Company provides these faaturing services through an international netwafrk
facilities located in the United States, Mexico,ii2h Vietnam and Taiwan.

The Company provides manufacturing and assembljcgsrranging from the assembly of individual
components to the assembly and testing of box-lalédtronic products. The Company has the aliiity
produce assemblies requiring mechanical as wealexdronic capabilities. The products assemblethby



Company are then incorporated into finished proglgotd in various industries, particularly indueitri
electronics, consumer electronics and medicaBlifences. In some instances the Company manuéadtue
completed finished product for its customers.

The Company operates manufacturing facilities kn&tove Village, Illinois United States of America
(“U.S."); Union City, California U.S.; Acuna, Chilalhua and Tijuana, Mexico; Suzhou, China; and Ho Chi
Minh City, Vietnam. In addition, the Company maiimis an International Procurement Office (“IPO”) in
Taipei, Taiwan. The Company also provides des@guises in Elgin, Illinois. The Company has an
information technology office in Taichung, Taiwan.

The Company’s international footprint provides oustomers with flexibility within the Company to
manufacture in China, Mexico, Vietham or the U\8e believe this strategy will continue to serve the
Company well as its customers continuously evalttadz supply chain strategies.

Products and Services

The Company provides a broad range of electrordcedectromechanical manufacturing related outsagrci
solutions for its customers. These solutions ipocate the Company’s knowledge and expertise ifcM&
industry to provide its customers with an interoaél network of manufacturing facilities, advanced
manufacturing technologies, complete supply chamagement, responsive and flexible customer seragce
well as product design, test and engineering supgddre Company’s EMS solutions are available from
inception of product concept through the ultimagéwetry of a finished product. Such technologied a
services include the following:

Manufacturing and Testing ServicesThe Company’s core business is the assemblyestitg of all
types of electronic printed circuit board assens(f® CBA”) and often incorporating these PCBAs into
electronic modules used in all types of devicesmodiucts that depend on electronics for their atp@n. This
assembly work utilizes state of the art manufantyend test equipment to deliver highly reliabledurcts to
the Company’s customers. The Company supportspnesuct introduction (“NPI”), low volume / high mixs
well as high volume/ low mix assembly work at al¢ls of complexity. Assembly services include-pin
through-hole (“PTH") components, surface mount ("BMicomponents, including ball grid array (“BGA"),
part-on-part components, conformal coating, pasg/lemating and others. Test services include amdair
limited to, in-circuit, automated optical inspecti’AOI"), functional, burn-in, hi-pot and boundasgan.
From simple component assembly through the mosptioated industry testing, the Company offers nudst
the services required to build electronic devicammercially available in the market today.

Design Services:To complement the manufacturing services it sffes customers, the Company also
offers design for manufacturing (“DFM”), and desiign test (‘“DFT”) review services to help customersure
that the products they have designed are optinfameproduction and testing. The Company also sffer
complete product design services.

Supply Chain Management:The Company provides complete supply chain managefor the
procurement of components needed to build custdmpeyducts. This includes the procurement and
management of all types of electronic componentsratated mechanical parts such as plastics analsnet
The Company’s resources supporting this activiey@ovided both on a plant specific basis as veetilabally
through its IPO in Taipei, Taiwan. Each of itesits linked together using the same Enterpriselres
Planning ("ERP”) system and custom IScore softwiaoés with real-time on-line visibility for customaccess.
The Company procures material from major manufacsuand distributors of electronic parts all over t
world.

The Company relies on numerous third-party supphier components used in the Company’s
production process. Certain of these componestaailable only from single-sources or a limitesnier of
suppliers. In addition, a customer’s specificagiomay require the Company to obtain components &om
single-source or a small number of suppliers.hihfast twelve months the component marketplace has
experienced shortages of various components, whisbme cases has delayed delivery of product to
customers. The loss of any such suppliers could hamaterial impact on the Company’s results efrafons.
Further, the Company could operate at a cost dis#tdge compared to competitors who have greatectdir
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buying power from suppliers. The Company doesemt¢r into long-term purchase agreements with nmajor
single-source suppliers. The Company believessthaitt-term purchase orders with its suppliers joles
flexibility, given that the Company’s orders areséd on the changing needs of its customers.

Warehousing and Distribution: The Company provides both in-house and thirdypaerehousing,
shipping, and customs brokerage for border crossasgpart of its service offering. This includeteinational
shipping, drop shipments to the end customer, dsawesupport of inventory optimization activitissch as
kanban and consignment.

Green, Sustainability, and Social Responsible latives: The Company supports initiatives that
promote sustainability, green environment and $oeiponsibility. The Company requires its supghgin to
meet all government imposed requirements in thessesaand helps its customers in achieving effective
compliance. Those include, but are not limitedRestrictions of Hazardous Substances (“RoHS”)triRé®n
of Chemicals (“REACH”) and Conflict Minerals regtitans.

Manufacturing Location and Certifications: The Company’s manufacturing and warehousing
locations are strategically located to supportaustomers with locations in Elk Grove Village, rilliis U.S.;
Union City, California U.S.; Acuna, Chihuahua anguana, Mexico; Suzhou, China and Ho Chi Minh City,
Vietham. The Company’s ability to transition maaetfuring to lower cost regions without jeopardizing
flexibility and service, differentiates it from macompetitors. Manufacturing certifications andistrations
are location specific, and include 1ISO 9001:208%) 114001:2015, IATF 16949:2009, Medical ISO
13485:2016 and FDB Certification, Aerospace AS91@00 International Traffic in Arms Regulations
(“ITAR”) certifications.

Markets and Customers
The Company’s customers are in the industrial sdeats, consumer electronics and medical/life sz@en
industries. As of April 30, 2019, the Company laggroximately 180 active customers ranging fronturoe

500 companies to small, privately held enterprises.

The following table shows, for the periods indichtthe percentage of net sales to the principaluesea
markets it serves.

Percent of Net Sales
Fiscal| Fiscal
Markets Typical OEM Application 2019 2018
% %
Industrial Electronics Health club equipment, gaming, controls, smart,d@ir
" 55.2| 54.8
connectivity
Consumer Electronics Appliances/white goods, automotive-vision systems,
. 39.6 404
E-writers
Medical/Life Sciences Operating tables, battery packs, dental equipment, 52 48
sterilizers ' '
Total 100% 100%

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2019, the Comypalargest two customers, Whirlpool Inc. and Hielux,
accounted for 15.9% and 15.8%, respectively, of@bmpany’s net sales. For the fiscal year endetl 30,
2018, Electrolux and Whirlpool Inc., accounted 26r2% and 13.3%, respectively, of the Company’ssakdts.
The Company believes that Electrolux and Whirlpwidil continue to account for a significant percegdaof
the Company’s net sales, although the percentagetafales may vary from period to period.



Sales and Marketing

Many of the members of the Company’s senior manage®@re actively involved in sales and marketing
efforts, and the Company has four direct sales eyagls. The Company markets its services throwgh fi
independent manufacturers’ representative orgaaizathat together currently employ 15 sales persbim
the United States and Canada. Independent mantdegtrepresentatives’ organizations receive égia
commissions based on orders received by the Comguathware assigned specific accounts, not terrgorie
addition, the Company markets itself through itdgite and tradeshows.

Mexico, Vietham and China Operations

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Standard goments de Mexico, S.A, a Mexican corporation, is
located in Acuna, Coahuila Mexico, a border towroas the Rio Grande River from Del Rio, Texas, iarnb5
miles west of San Antonio. Standard Components deidd, S.A. was incorporated and commenced operatio
in 1968 and had 806 employees at April 30, 2018e Tompany’s wholly-owned subsidiary, AbleMex Sda.
C.V., a Mexican corporation, is located in TijuaBaja California Mexico, a border town south of $xago,
California. AbleMex S.A. de C.V. was incorporatati commenced operations in 2000. The operatidn ha
364 employees at April 30, 2019. The Company’sliyhmwned subsidiary, Digital Appliance Controls de
Mexico S.A., a Mexican corporation, operates infDahua, Mexico, located approximately 235 milegfiel
Paso, Texas. Digital Appliance Controls de MeX@cA. was incorporated and commenced operation897.1
The operation had 513 employees at April 30, 2009 Company believes that one of the key bengfits
having operations in Mexico is its access to céfsteive labor resources while having geographimxpmity to
the United States.

The Company’s wholly-owned foreign enterprises, Mhg SigmaTron Electronics Co., Ltd. and SigmaTron
Electronic Technology Co., Ltd., are located int8uz, China. The Company has entered into an agneem
with governmental authorities in the economic depeient zone of Wujiang, Jiangsu Province, Peoples
Republic of China, pursuant to which the Compangalee the lessee of a parcel of land of approximaied
Chinese acres. The term of the land lease is &yerhe Company built a manufacturing plant,cefpace
and dormitories on this site during 2004. In flsegar 2015, the China facility expanded and adti&600
square feet in warehouse and manufacturing. Ttaédquare footage of the facility is 202,000 amel t
operation had 505 employees as of April 30, 20B8th SigmaTron China entities operate at this site.

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Spitfire @ofs (Vietnam) Co. Ltd. is located in Amata Inchigst
Park, Bien Hoa City, Dong Nai Province, Vietnamg &18 miles east of Ho Chi Minh City. Spitfir@@rols
(Vietnam) Co. Ltd. was incorporated and commengesgtation in 2005 and had 392 employees as of &gl
20109.

The Company provides funds for salaries, wagesheael and capital expenditure items as necessary to
operate its wholly-owned Mexican, Viethamese anth€e subsidiaries and foreign enterprises and the
Taiwan IPO. The Company provides funding in U.8ll&s, which are exchanged for Pesos, Dong, Remimin
and New Taiwan dollars. The fluctuation of curiesdrom time to time, without an equal or greaterease

in inflation, could have a material impact on thehcial results of the Company. The impact ofency
fluctuations for the fiscal year ended April 30,120resulted in net foreign currency transactiemsés of
approximately $433,742 compared to net foreignengy gains of $125,000 in the prior year. In fisear
2019, the Company paid approximately $53,090,006 tiwreign subsidiaries.

The consolidated financial statements as of Af)jl2Z)19, include the accounts and transactionsgoh&Tron,
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Standard Compondatdexico, S.A., AbleMex S.A. de C.V., Digital
Appliance Controls de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., Spéfitontrols (Vietnam) Co. Ltd., Spitfire Controlsa@nan)
Co. Ltd., wholly-owned foreign enterprises Wujig®iggmaTron Electronics Co., Ltd. and SigmaTron
Electronic Technology Co., Ltd., and internatiopedcurement office, SigmaTron Taiwan Branch. The
functional currency of the Company’s foreign sulzsiés operations is the U.S. Dollar. Intercompany
transactions are eliminated in the consolidateanfomal statements.



Competition

The EMS industry is highly competitive and subjectapid change. Furthermore, both large and small
companies compete in the industry, and many hayefigiantly greater financial resources, more egtes
business experience and greater marketing and giodicapabilities than the Company. The significa
competitive factors in this industry include priggiality, service, timeliness, reliability, the ktyito source
raw components, and manufacturing and technologaadbilities. The Company believes it can compate
all of these factors.

Consolidation

As a result of consolidation and other transactiomelving competitors and other companies in tleen@any’s
markets, the Company occasionally reviews potetraalsactions relating to its business, produats an
technologies. Such transactions could include erer@cquisitions, strategic alliances, joint vesgulicensing
agreements, co-promotion agreements, financingngeraents or other types of transactions. In thedythe
Company may choose to enter into these types ofhar transactions at any time depending on aJailab
sources of financing, and such transactions coaNe la material impact on the Company’s businesanéial
condition or operations.

Governmental Regulations

The Company’s operations are subject to certagidorgovernment, U.S. federal, state and locallatgry
requirements relating to, among others, environaiemaste management, labor and health and safety
matters. Management believes that the Compangmess is operated in compliance with all such leggpns,
which include European regulations known as ROHEREBACH. RoHS prohibits the use of lead, mercury
and certain other specified substances in prodwatsy sold into the European Union. The Comparsy ha
RoHS-dedicated manufacturing capabilities at altofnanufacturing operations. REACH imposes infation
reporting requirements on all listed SVHCs (substarof very high concern). From time-to-time the
Company's customers request REACH required infaomand certifications on the assemblies the Compan
manufactures for them. These requests requir€dinepany to gather information from component sgrplto
verify the presence and level of mass of any SVHi@ater than 0.1% in the assemblies the Company
manufactures based on customer specificationanyfSVHCs are present at more than 0.1% of the ofdbe
item, the specific concentration and mass of thelSVnust be reported to proper authorities by thengany's
customer.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumerdetimn Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) introdwte
reporting requirements for verification of whettiee Company directly (or indirectly through suppdief
components) is purchasing the minerals or metdt golumbite-tantalite, cassiterite, wolframitedatheir
derivatives (tin, tungsten, and tantalum), thatteig provided by sources in the conflict regidéthe
Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC"). Consistentharecent prior years, in May 2019, the Compaledfi
Form SD with the Securities and Exchange Commisstating the Company’s supply chain remains DRC
conflict undeterminable.

The Company’s costs of compliance with environmidatas, including conflict mineral reporting, istesated
to be a total of approximately $1,600,000 for theé most recently completed fiscal years endingl 8p,
2019. Additional or modified requirements may bposed in the future. If such additional or maetifi
requirements are imposed, or if conditions reqgiremediation are found to exist, the Company ney b
required to incur additional expenditures.

Backlog

The Company relies on forecasted orders and pueatvaers (firm orders) from its customers to estéma
backlog. The Company’s backlog of firm orders &8gril 30, 2019, and April 30, 2018, was approxiaig
$269,660,000 and $219,100,000, respectively. Tdragany believes a significant portion of the bagld
April 30, 2019, will ship in fiscal year 2020. Bmgse customers may cancel or reschedule deliveaek|og
may not be a meaningful indicator of future revenw@ariations in the magnitude and duration of cacis,



forecasts and purchase orders received by the Gongyal delivery requirements generally may result i
substantial fluctuations in backlog from periocriod.

Employees

The Company employed approximately 3,106 full-tiemeployees as of April 30, 2019, including 208 eraghg
in engineering or engineering-related servicesl@j& manufacturing and 388 in administrative aratkating
functions.

The Company has a labor contract with Chemical &dBction Workers Union Local No. 30, AFL-CIO,
covering the Company’s workers in Elk Grove Villaggnois which expires on November 30, 2021. The
Company’s Mexican subsidiary, Standard Componeatsleixico S.A., has a labor contract with Sindidago
Trabajadores de la Industra Electronica, Similgr€®nexos del Estado de Coahuila, C.T.M. covettieg t
Company'’s workers in Acuna, Mexico which expireskabruary 3, 2020. The Company’s subsidiary latate
in Tijuana, Mexico has a labor contract with Sirda&cMexico Moderno De Trabajadores De La, Baja
California, C.R.O.C. The contract does not havexpiration date. The Company’s subsidiary locatedo

Chi Minh City, Vietnam, has a labor contract witbR8G DOAN CO SO CONG TY TNHH Spitfire Controls
Vietnam. The contract expires on February 5, 2020.

Since the time the Company commenced operatiohasinot experienced any union-related work stogppag
The Company believes its relations with its uniand its other employees are good.

Available Information

The Company’s website address is www.sigmatroomth . The Company announces material information,
including press releases, analyst presentationsiantcial information regarding the Company, ttghwa
variety of means, including the Company’s webghe,Investors subpage of its website
(www.sigmatronintl.com/investors/), press releafiésgs with the SEC, public conference calls aatial
media, in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionlgiribution of information to the public. The kestors
subpage is accessible by clicking on the tab lab&tesestors” on the Company’s website home pagee
Company also uses these channels to expedite @duéss to time-critical information regarding @@mpany
in advance of or in lieu of distributing a preskease or a filing with the SEC disclosing the sanfiermation.
Therefore, investors should look to these chanfioelsnportant and time-critical information. Inditon, the
Company is subject to the informational requireraexitthe Exchange Act and files or furnishes repgtoxy
statements, and other information with the SECchSeports and other information filed by the Compwith
the SEC are available free of charge on its welditen such reports are simultaneously availabldherSEC’s
website ahttp://www.sec.gov The Company encourages investors, the mediaieds interested in the
Company to review the information it posts on themgous channels, as such information could bengeleto
be material information.

The contents of the websites referred to abovaetréncorporated into this filing. Further, ther@pany’s
references to the URLSs for these websites aredetio be inactive textual references only.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
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Position

President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmathefBoard of Director
Gary R. Fairhead has been the President of the @ayrgnd a director
since January 1990 and Chairman of the Board afdiirs of the
Company since August 2011. Gary R. Fairhead ibthther of Gregory
A. Fairhead.

Chief Financial ©#r, Vice President of Finance, Treasurer andelagy
since February 1994. Director of the Company siggust 2011.

Executive Vice Presidemwt Assistant Secretary. Gregory A. Fairhead
has been the Executive Vice President since FepA@0 and Assistant
Secretary since 1994. Mr. Fairhead was Vice PeasidA\cuna Operatior
for the Company from February 1990 to February 20G€egory A.
Fairhead is the brother of Gary R. Fairhead.

Vice President, Director ppBuChain and Assistant Secretary since
February 1994.

Vice President, Acuna Operat8ince 2007. Vice President - China
Operations from 2003 to 2007. General Managecé Vresident of
Acuna Operations from 1994 to 2003.

Executive Vice Presidafeist Coast Operations since 2005. Mr.
Upadhyaya was the Vice President of the Fremont&ijpas from 2001
until 2005.

Vice President, China Operatisince 2007. Vice President - Hayward
Materials / Test / IT from 2005 - 2007. Vice Pdesit of Engineering
Fremont Operation from 2001 to 2005.

Executive Vice President, &eud Elk Grove Village Operations since
2018. Vice President of Operations from 2014 tb&0Director of
Operations from 2011 to 2014. Senior Program Man&gm 2010 to
2011. Program Manager from 2005 to 2010. Invenfaralyst from 200:
to 2005.

The following risk factors should be read carefiiyconnection with evaluating our business andfdineard-
looking information contained in this Annual Report Form 10-K. Any of the following risks could
materially adversely affect our business, operatiamdustry or financial position or our futuredincial
performance. While the Company believes it hastiied and discussed below the key risk factofeating
its business, there may be additional risks an@mtainties that are not presently known or thatrante
currently believed to be significant that may adedy affect its business, operations, industngritial
position and financial performance in the future.
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The Company’s ability to secure and maintain sufat credit arrangements is key to its continued
operations

On March 31, 2017, the Company entered into a $B5000 senior secured credit facility with U.S. Ban
which expires on March 31, 2022. The credit facik collateralized by substantially all of ther@pany’s
domestically located assets. The facility allons @ompany to choose among interest rates at whinhy
borrow funds: the bank fixed rate of five percentIBOR plus one and one half percent (effectiv&l§y9% at
April 30, 2019). Interest is due monthly. Undee senior secured credit facility, the Company imayow up
to the lesser of (i) $35,000,000 or (ii) an amoenpal to a percentage of the eligible accountsvabke plus a
percentage of the eligible inventory (the “BorrogiBase”).

On July 16, 2018, the Company and U.S. Bank entetecan amendment of the revolving line of crediter
the senior secured credit facility. The amendedlkéng credit facility allows the Company to bowap to

the lesser of (i) $45,000,000 (the “Revolving Libap”) less reserves or (ii) the Borrowing Base,rimimore
than 90% of the Company’s Revolving Line Cap, ex¢ieat the 90% limitation will expire if the Compgs
actual revolving loans for 90 consecutive daysrdfte amendment’s effective date are less than @0¥te
Company’s Borrowing Base and the Company maintifixed Charge Coverage Ratio of 1.2 to 1.0 for fou
consecutive quarters. The amendment also imposdisnits on categories of inventory equal to $10,500
on raw materials, $10,000,000 on finished goods%2&]000,000 on all eligible inventory.

On December 13, 2018, the Company and U.S. Barkesghtnto an amendment of the revolving creditlitgci
The amendment provides an exception to otherwilggible foreign receivables for up to $3,000,060 o
receivables paid by certain enumerated accounbdebtitside of the U.S. and Canada.

On March 22, 2019, the Company and U.S. Bank esiiete an amendment of the revolving credit fagilit
The amendment allows the Company to borrow upeddehser of (i) the Revolving Line Cap less resene
(ii) the Borrowing Base, but no more than 95% & @ompany’s Revolving Line Cap until August 1, 2@t
90% on and after August 1, 2019. As of April 3019, there was $35,727,212 outstanding and $6,88%
unused availability under the U.S. Bank facilitymqmared to an outstanding balance of $29,279,631 and
$5,720,369 of unused availability at April 30, 2018 April 30, 2019, the Company was in compliandth
its financial covenant and other restrictive covgaainder the credit facility. Deferred financicasts of
$75,083 were capitalized during the fiscal yeareeh8pril 30, 2019, which are amortized over thenterf the
agreement. As of April 30, 2019, and April 30, 80the unamortized amount offset against outstandabt
was $209,162 and $192,502, respectively.

On March 15, 2019, the Company’s wholly-owned sdibsy, SigmaTron Electronic Technology Co., Ltd.,
entered into a credit facility with China ConstioatBank. Under the agreement SigmaTron Electronic
Technology Co., Ltd. can borrow up to 5,000,000 rRieibi, approximately $743,000 as of April 30, 20a8d
the facility is collateralized by Wujiang SigmaTr&tectronics Co., Ltd.’s manufacturing buildingutdrest is
payable monthly and the facility bears a fixed riest rate of 6.09%. The term of the facility exteto March
14, 2024. There was no outstanding balance uhédatility at April 30, 2019.

The Company is in compliance with its financial enant and other restrictive covenants and antiegptat its
credit facilities, expected future cash flows froperations and leasing resources are adequatestoitsie
working capital requirements, and fund capital exjiires for the next 12 months. In addition,ustomers
delay orders, future payments are not made tinleé/Company desires to expand its operationsugmbss
grows more rapidly than expected, or the curreahemic climate deteriorates, additional financiagaurces
may be necessary. There is no assurance that theay will be able to obtain equity or debt finangat
acceptable terms, or at all, in the future. Themo assurance that the Company will be ablettrr®r renew
its credit agreements in the future, or that amgmgon or renewal will be on the same terms asecttly exist.

Adverse changes in the economy or political cormtits could negatively impact the Company’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.

The Company'’s sales and gross margins dependisgmtify on market demand for its customers’ prosluct

The uncertainty in the U.S. and international ecoiccand political environments could result in @ldee in
demand for our customers’ products in any induskyrther, any adverse changes in tax rates argldawade

11



policies affecting our customers could result icréasing gross margins. Any of these factors coafghtively
impact the Company’s business, results of opersidond financial condition.

The Company experiences variable operating results.

The Company'’s results of operations have variedraag continue to fluctuate significantly from petito
period, including on a quarterly basis. Consedygergsults of operations in any period should it
considered indicative of the results for any futpegiod, and fluctuations in operating results raksp result in
fluctuations in the price of the Company’s commtock.

The Company’s quarterly and annual results may sanyificantly depending on numerous factors, maiy
which are beyond the Company’s control. Some e$éifactors include:

- changes in sales mix to customers

- changes in availability and rising compnot costs

- volume of customer orders relative tpawty

- market demand and acceptance of ouomess’ products

- price erosion within the EMS marketplace

- capital equipment requirements needeaénmain technologically competitive
- volatility in the U.S. and internatioredonomic and financial markets

The Company’s customer base is concentrated.

Sales to the Company’s five largest customers ateduor 49.7% and 50.2% of net sales for the figears
ended April 30, 2019, and April 30, 2018, respeddtiv For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2019, mustomers
accounted for 15.9% and 15.8% of net sales of hrafgainy, and 3.9% and 11.5%, respectively, of adsoun
receivable. For the fiscal year ended April 301.20awo customers accounted for 20.2% and 13.3febsales
of the Company and 6.0% and 2.9%, respectivelgcobunts receivable. Significant reductions iesab any
of the Company’s major customers or the loss ofgntustomer could have a material impact on the
Company’s operations. If the Company cannot reptasicelled or reduced orders, sales will decliféch
could have a material impact on the results of af@ns. There can be no assurance that the Compiiny
retain any or all of its largest customers. The& may be further complicated by pricing pressuaned intense
competition prevalent in our industry.

If any of the Company’s customers have financi#flatilties, the Company could encounter delaysefadlts
in the payment of amounts owed for accounts rebévand inventory obligations. This could have a
significant adverse impact on the Company’s reafltsperations and financial condition.

Most of the Company’s customers do not commit todeterm production schedules, which makes it difflc
to schedule production and achieve maximum efficdgrat the Company’s manufacturing facilities and
manage inventory levels.

The volume and timing of sales to the Company’damsrs may vary due to:

- customers’ attempts to manage theirritwey

variation in demand for the Company’stomers’ products
- design changes, or

- acquisitions of or consolidation amomngtomers

Many of the Company’s customers do not commitrim foroduction schedules. The Company’s inability t
forecast the level of customer orders with cerjagan make it difficult to schedule production andximize
utilization of manufacturing capacity and manageeitory levels. The Company could be requiredhtoease
or decrease staffing and more closely manage ettp@nses in order to meet the anticipated demaitsl of
customers. Orders from the Company’s customerkldmicancelled or delivery schedules could berdede
as a result of changes in our customers’ demapdklbly adversely affecting the Company’s results of
operations in any given period.
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The Company and its customers may be unable to kaepent with the industry’s technological changes.

The market for the Company’s manufacturing serviseharacterized by rapidly changing technology an
continuing product development. The future sucoésse Company’s business will depend in large ppon
our customers’ ability to maintain and enhancerttezihnological capabilities, develop and market
manufacturing services which meet changing custareeds and successfully anticipate or respond to
technological changes in manufacturing processesanst-effective and timely basis.

Our customers have competitive challenges, inclugliapid technological changes, pricing pressure and
decreasing demand from their customers, which coaldversely affect their business and the Company’s.

Factors affecting the industries that utilize oustomers’ products could negatively impact our @ungtrs and
the Company. These factors include:

- increased competition among our custsraed their competitors
- the inability of our customers to deyeknd market their products
- recessionary periods in our customer’kets

- the potential that our customers’ pradumecome obsolete

- our customers’ inability to react to idlp changing technology

Any such factor or a combination of factors couddjatively impact our customers’ need for or abiitypay
for our products, which could, in turn, affect 8@empany’s results of operations.

Adverse market conditions could reduce our futur@es and earnings per share.

Uncertainty over the erosion of global consumeffidemce amidst concerns about volatile energy ¢osts
geopolitical issues, the availability and cost i&dit, declining asset values, inflation, risingemployment,
and the stability and solvency of financial indiitas, financial markets, businesses, and soveragjons has
slowed global economic growth and resulted in reiceés in many countries, including in the Unitedt&s,
Europe and certain countries in Asia over the pagéral years. The economic recovery of recentyisa
fragile and recessionary conditions may returny Ahthese potential negative economic conditioay m
reduce demand for the Company’s customers’ produalsadversely affect the Company’s sales.
Consequently, the Company’s past operating resdisings and cash flows may not be indicativéef t
Company’s future operating results, earnings ast faws.

Customer relationships with start-up companies pgasmore risk.

A small portion of the Company’s current customasdis comprised of start-up companies. Customer
relationships with start-up companies may preseightened risk due to the lack of product histaBjow
market acceptance of their products could resudeimand fluctuations causing inventory levels se.ri
Further, the current economic environment could enitildifficult for such emerging companies to ohtai
additional funding. This may result in additiocagdit risk including, but not limited to, the aadition of trade
account receivables and payment for their inventdfythe Company does not have adequate allowances
recorded, the results of operations may be nedgptaféected.

The Company faces intense industry competition atanward pricing pressures.

The EMS industry is highly fragmented and charéoter by intense competition. Many of the Company’s
competitors have greater experience, as well agerenanufacturing, purchasing, marketing and firan
resources than the Company. Competition from iexjsir potential new competitors may have a mdteria
adverse impact on the Company’s business, finanoiadition or results of operations. The introduetof
lower priced competitive products, significant grieductions by the Company’s competitors or siggit
pricing pressures from its customers could adveriéct the Company’s business, financial conditand
results of operations.
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The Company has foreign operations that may poseditdnal risks.

The Company has substantial manufacturing opemsatiomultiple countries. Therefore, the Company’s
foreign businesses and results of operations grerdient upon numerous related factors, includiagtability
of the foreign economies, the political climatdatiens with the United States, prevailing workeages, the
legal authority of the Company to operate and edpnbusiness in a foreign country, and the ahit
identify, hire, train and retain qualified persohard operating management in Mexico, China andniie.

The Company obtains many of its materials and camapts through its IPO in Taipei, Taiwan. The
Company’s access to these materials and compoisathépendent on the continued viability of its Asia
suppliers.

Approximately 13.0% and 14.0% of the total non-entrconsolidated assets of the Company are lodated
foreign jurisdictions outside the United State®@B8pril 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Disclosure and internal controls may not detect alirors or fraud.

The Company’s disclosure controls and internal mdsican provide only reasonable assurance that the
procedures will meet the control objectives. Colstare limited in their effectiveness by humaroerr
including faulty judgments in decision-making. thar, controls can be circumvented by collusiotwaf or
more people or by management override of contrdlerefore, the Company’s management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officemnnot conclude with certainty that the Company’s
disclosure controls and internal controls will pgavall errors and all fraud.

Inadequate internal control over financial reportigp could result in a reduction in the value of ouommon
stock.

If the Company identifies and reports a materiaghkveess in its internal control over financial rejmy,
shareholders and the Company’s lenders could lmsfdence in the reliability of the Company’s fircal
statements. This could have a material adversadtrgn the value of the Company’s stock and the g2omw's
liquidity.

There is a risk of fluctuation of various currencgintegral to the Company’s operations.

The Company purchases some of its material compeiagl funds some of its operations in foreign
currencies. From time to time the currencies flaté against the U.S. Dollar. Such fluctuationdadave a
material impact on the Company’s results of operatiand performance. The impact of currency flakibms
for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2019, resultedet foreign currency transaction losses of $443,
compared to net foreign currency gain of approxatye$125,000 in the prior year. These fluctuatiars
expected to continue and could have a negativedtgrathe Company’s results of operations. The g
did not, and is not expected to, utilize derivadive hedge foreign currencies to reduce the rigduoh
fluctuations.

The availability of raw components or an increasetheir price may affect the Company’s operationsda
profits.

The Company relies on numerous third-party suppher components used in the Company’s production
process. Certain of these components are avaiteiyefrom single-sources or a limited number gbgiers.

In addition, a customer’s specifications may regtite Company to obtain components from a singleesoor
a small number of suppliers. The loss of any sugpliers could have a material impact on the Camisa
results of operations. Further, the Company coplerate at a cost disadvantage compared to coonsetiho
have greater buying power from suppliers. The Camgploes not enter into long-term purchase agreismen
with major or single-source suppliers, but the Campfrequently places cancellable scheduled puecbesers
with suppliers that extend out as far as one y&&e current component market place remains velafiluring
the last two quarters of fiscal year 2019, leactwere generally shortened but lead times foateselect
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components can still exceed 24 to 36 weeks. Thepaay’s orders for components are always baseteon t
changing needs of its customers.

The Company depends on management and skilled persb

The Company depends significantly on its Presi@®@ and other executive officers. The Company’s
employees generally are not bound by employmemeagents and the Company cannot assure that it will
retain its executive officers or skilled personn€he loss of the services of any of these key eygas could
have a material impact on the Company’s businedgesults of operations. In addition, despite i§icgnt
competition, continued growth and expansion ofGeenpany’s EMS business will require that the Conypan
attract, motivate and retain additional skilled axgerienced personnel. The Company’s future drowt
depends on the contributions and abilities of kegcatives and skilled, experienced employees. The
Company’s future growth also depends on its ahidityecruit and retain high-quality employees. Auie to
obtain or retain the number of skilled employeesessary to support the Company’s efforts, a lodepf
employees or a significant shortage of skilled,ezignced employees could jeopardize its abilitynaet its
growth targets.

Favorable labor relations are important to the Corpy.

The Company currently has labor union contractk Wit employees constituting approximately 48%t®f i
workforce for fiscal years 2019 and 2018. Althoulygd Company believes its labor relations are gaag,
labor disruptions, whether union-related or othsewicould significantly impair the Company’s busisie
substantially increase the Company’s costs or utiserhave a material impact on the Company’s resilt
operations.

Failure to comply with environmental regulations atd subject the Company to liability.

The Company is subject to a variety of environmlenggulations relating to the use, storage, disghand
disposal of hazardous chemicals used during itsufaaturing process. To date, the cost to the Compé
such compliance has not had a material impact@iCtdmpany’s business, financial condition or resoft
operations. However, there can be no assurantgittations will not occur in the future as a riésaf human
error, equipment failure or other causes. Furtiier Company cannot predict the nature, scopefectedf
environmental legislation or regulatory requirensathiat could be imposed or how existing or futaned or
regulations will be administered or interpretecbnpliance with more stringent laws or regulaticaswell as
more vigorous enforcement policies of regulatorgrages, could require substantial expenditureiby t
Company and could have a material impact on thepamyis business, financial condition and results of
operations. Any failure by the Company to complihvpresent or future regulations could subjett ifuture
liabilities or the suspension of production whiclultl have a material negative impact on the Comgany
results of operations.

Conflict minerals regulations may cause the Compatieyincur additional expenses and could increaseth
cost of components contained in its products andiaigely affect its inventory supply chain.

The Dodd-Frank Act, and the rules promulgated leySkcurities and Exchange Commission (“SEC")
thereunder, require the Company to determine gmorr@annually whether any conflict minerals conéairin
our products originated from the DRC or an adjaniountry. The Dodd-Frank Act and these rules caifielct
our ability to source components that contain ¢onfhinerals at acceptable prices and could impaet
availability of conflict minerals, since there miag only a limited number of suppliers of confliceé conflict
minerals. Our customers may require that our prtsdcntain only conflict-free conflict minerals,caaur
revenues and margins may be negatively impacted dire unable to meet this requirement at a rea$mna
price or are unable to pass through any increassts associated with meeting this requirement. tatthlly,
the Company may suffer reputational harm with arstemers and other stakeholders if our productsatre
conflict-free. The Company could incur significaaists in the event we are unable to manufacturéyets
that contain only conflict-free conflict mineralsto the extent that we are required to make ctatme
products, processes, or sources of supply duestotiegoing requirements or pressures.
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The price of the Company’s stock is volatile.

The price of the Company’s common stock historichlis experienced significant volatility due toctiations
in the Company’s revenue and earnings, other factating to the Company’s operations, the masket’
changing expectations for the Company’s growthyalequity market conditions and other factorsalated
to the Company’s operations. In addition, the tiédifloat of the Company’s common stock and thetdich
number of market makers also affect the volatditghe Company’s common stock. Such fluctuatiaes a
expected to continue in the future.

An adverse change in the interest rates for our tmwings could adversely affect our results of opgoas.

The Company pays interest on outstanding borrowimgter its senior secured credit facility and dartaher
long-term debt obligations at interest rates thatt@iate. An adverse change in the Company’séstanates
could have a material adverse effect on its resdltgperations.

Changes in securities laws and regulations may iease costs.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as ruleésaguently implemented by the SEC and listing
requirements subsequently adopted by Nasdaq immespgo Sarbanes-Oxley, have required changes in
corporate governance practices, internal contrtities and securities disclosure and compliancetjoes of
public companies. More recently the Dodd-Frank recfuires changes to our corporate governance,
compliance practices and securities disclosuresngliance following the implementation of theseesuhas
increased our legal, financial and accounting costee Company expects increased costs relatdebse hew
regulations to continue, including, but not limitied legal, financial and accounting costs. Thaeseslopments
may result in the Company having difficulty in attting and retaining qualified members of the baard
qualified officers. Further, the costs associatétl the compliance with and implementation of prdares
under these laws and related rules could have eriakimpact on the Company’s results of operations

Any litigation, even where a claim is without meritould result in substantial costs and diversioh o
resources.

In the past, the Company has been notified of damfating to various matters including intelled¢tpperty
rights, contractual matters, labor issues or oth&tters arising in the ordinary course of busindaghe event
of any such claim, the Company may be requireghémd a significant amount of money and resources) e
where the claim is without merit. Accordingly, tresolution of such disputes, even those encouhiarthe
ordinary course of business, could have a matadetrse effect on the Company’s business, consetida
financial conditions and results of operations.

If the security of the Company’systems is breached or otherwise subjected to umarited access, the
Company’s reputation may be severely harmed anuidty be exposed to liability.

The Company’s system stores confidential infornmatidnich includes its financial information, its toers’
proprietary email distribution lists, product infioation, supplier information, and other criticatala Any
accidental or willful security breach or other uthearized access could expose the Company to kplidr the
loss of such information, adverse regulatory achtigriederal and state governments, time-consunmidg a
expensive litigation and other possible liabiliteswell as negative publicity, which could seweddmage the
Company’s reputation. If security measures aradired because of third-party action, employee error
malfeasance or otherwise, or if design flaws is@&ware are exposed and exploited, and, as #,raghird
party obtains unauthorized access to any of thepaois customer data, its relationships with itstomers
may be severely damaged, and the Company could significant liability. Because techniques useabtain
unauthorized access or to sabotage systems chagehtly and generally are not recognized ungiy thre
launched against a target, the Company and id-fiarty hosting facilities may be unable to ant¢gthese
techniques or to implement adequate preventive uness In addition, many states have enacted lagusining
companies to notify customers of data securitydirea involving their data. These mandatory discles
regarding a security breach often lead to widespregative publicity, which may cause the Company’s
customers to lose confidence in the effectivené#s data security measures. Any security bregicather
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actual or perceived, could harm the Company’s ejmri, could cause it to lose customers and magitiegy
impact its ability to acquire new customers.

With the increased use of technologies such amthenet to conduct business, a company is sudtet
operational, information security and related risksgeneral, cyber incidents can result from dalibe attacks
or unintentional events. Cyberattacks include,asatnot limited to, gaining unauthorized accesdigdal
systems (e.g., through “hacking” or malicious saitevcoding) for purposes of misappropriating assets
sensitive information, corrupting data, or causipgrational disruption (e.g., ransomware attacks).
Cyberattacks may also be carried out in a manmerdibes not require gaining unauthorized accesb, &si
causing denial-of-service attacks on websites @féorts to make network services unavailablenterided
users). Cyber incidents affecting the Companyssétrvice providers have the ability to cause gisoas and
impact business operations, potentially resultmfiiancial losses, interference with the Compaiayity to
conduct business in the ordinary course, violatmfrspplicable privacy and other laws, regulatongs$,
penalties, reputational damage, reimbursementh@r @ompensation costs, additional compliance @glsin
extreme cases, have caused companies to ceasebdsingss. Cyber events also can affect countézpant
entities with which the Company does business, gouwental and other regulatory authorities, barmsiance
companies and other financial institutions, amotigs. In addition, substantial costs may be iremim order
to prevent any cyber incidents in the future. While Company has established risk management system
prevent such cyber incidents, there are inheraitdtions in such systems including the possibilist the
Company has not prepared for certain risks tha¢ im¢ been or are not possible to have been idshtif
Further, the Company may be able to influence chanot control, the cyber security plans and systeuat in
place by its service providers or any other thiadtips whose operations may affect the Company. The
Company could be negatively impacted as a result.

Changes in U.S. trade policy, including the impasit of tariffs and the resulting consequences, miagve a
material adverse impact on our business and resolt®perations.

The U.S. government has indicated its intent tqpadmew approach to trade policy and in some dases
renegotiate, or potentially terminate, certain txgsbilateral or multi-lateral trade agreemernitshas also
initiated tariffs on certain foreign goods, inclagdisteel and aluminum and other raw materialszetiliby the
Company. Changes in U.S. trade policy could raeuihe or more of the U.S.’ trading partners aohgpt
responsive trade policy making it more difficultamstly for the Company to import our products frdrose
countries. This in turn could require us to inseegrices to our customers which may reduce denaand,we
are unable to increase prices, result in a lowegman products sold.

China and the European Union have imposed taniffdd &. products in retaliation for new U.S. tariffs
Additional tariffs could be imposed by China and #uropean Union in response to proposed incrdaséd
on products imported from China and the EuropeaiotnThere is also a concern that the impositibn o
additional tariffs by the United States could régsukthe adoption of additional tariffs by othemedries. The
resulting trade war could have a significant adeeffect on world trade and the world economy.tHeextent
that trade tariffs and other restrictions imposgdHhe United States increase the price of, or lthritamount of
steel, aluminum and other raw materials utilizedh®yCompany imported into the United States, tstscof
our raw materials may be adversely affected andiémeand from our customers for products and sesvitzy
be diminished, which could adversely affect oureraves and profitability.

We cannot predict future trade policy or the teohany renegotiated trade agreements and theirdngraour
business. The adoption and expansion of tradeatéshs, the occurrence of a trade war, or otlwegnmental
action related to tariffs or trade agreements dicigs has the potential to adversely impact denfandur
products, our costs, our customers, our suppkers the U.S. economy, which in turn could adversajact
our business, financial condition and results afragions.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

17



ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

At April 30, 2019, the Company, operating in onsibess segment as an independent EMS provider, had
manufacturing facilities located in Elk Grove Vi, Illinois U.S., Union City, California U.S., Ana,
Chihuahua and Tijuana, Mexico, Ho Chi Minh Cityg¥fiam and Suzhou, China. In addition, the Company
provides materials procurement services througBlksGrove Village, lllinois U.S., Union City, Cédirnia
U.S, and Taipei, Taiwan offices. The Company ptesidesign services in Elgin, lllinois U.S. Ther@any
has an information technology office in Taichungjwan.

Certain information about the Company’s manufaogirivarehouse, purchasing and design facilitisgtis

forth below:
Location Square Services Offered Owned/Leased
Feet

Suzhou, China 202,000 Electronic and electromechanical manufacturing
solutions e

Elk Grove Village, IL 124,30t Corporate headquarters and electronic and Owned
electromechanical manufacturing solutions

Union City, CA 117,000 Electronic and electromechanical manufacturing.eased
solutions

Acuna, Mexico 115,000 Electronic and electromechanical manufacturing@wned
solutions i

Chihuahua, Mexico 113,00( Electronic and electromechanical manufacturing.eased
solutions

Tijuana, Mexico 112,100 Electronic and electromechanical manufacturing.eased
solutions

Ho Chi Minh City, 24,47" Electronic and electromechanical manufacturing.eased

Vietnam solutions

Del Rio, TX 44,00 Warehousing and distribution Leased

Taipei, Taiwan 4,68¢ |International procurement office Leased

Taichung, Taiwan 1,65( Information technology office Leased

Elgin, IL 45,000 Design services Owned

San Diego, CA 30,24( Warehousing and distribution Leased

*The Company’s Suzhou, China building is owned iy Company and the land is leased from the Chinese
government for a 50 year term.

**A portion of the facility is leased and the Conmyahas an option to purchase it.

***Total square footage includes 70,000 square &detormitories.
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The Union City and San Diego, California, Tijuamal&hihuahua, Mexico, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietham and
Del Rio, Texas properties are occupied pursualgases of the premises. The lease agreementsef@rdl
Rio, Texas properties expire December 2019. Taseleagreement for the San Diego, California prgpert
expires August 2019. The lease agreement for thierl City, California property expires March 202Ihe
Chihuahua, Mexico lease expires July 2021. Theahi@, Mexico lease expires November 2023. Theleas
agreement for the Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam progegkpires July 2020. The Company’s manufacturing
facilities located in Acuna, Mexico, Elgin, lllin@iand Elk Grove Village, lllinois are owned by thempany,
except for a portion of the facility in Acuna, Megi, which is leased. The Company has an optidmuycthe
leased portion of the facility in Acuna, Mexicohd properties in Elk Grove Village, lllinois andgi, 1llinois
are financed under separate mortgage loan agreemé&hée Company leases the IPO office in Taipdivda
to coordinate Far East purchasing activities. CThenpany leases the information technology office in
Taichung, Taiwan. The Company believes its curfacitities are adequate to meet its current neédls.
addition, the Company believes it can find alteikatacilities to meet its needs in the futuregfuired.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time the Company is involved in legedceedings, claims or investigations that arediecial to
the conduct of the Company’s business. In futurégs, the Company could be subjected to casharasbn-
cash charges to earnings if any of these matterseaplved on unfavorable terms. However, althdabgh
ultimate outcome of any legal matter cannot be ipted with certainty, based on present information,
including management’s assessment of the merasyparticular claim, the Company does not exgeat t
these legal proceedings or claims will have anyenitadverse impact on its future consolidatedritial
position or results of operations.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, REL ATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
The Company’s common stock is traded on the NASOZepital Market System under the symbol SGMA.
As of July 19, 2019, there were approximately 3@l&rs of record of the Company’s common stock, Whic

does not include shareholders whose stock is heddigh securities position listings. The Compastyneates
there to be approximately 1,476 beneficial ownéth® Company’s common stock.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

For information concerning securities authorizedisuance under our equity compensation plans?agdll,
Item 12 of this Annual Report, under the captior¢&ity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholders Matters” alsas¢he Company’s audited financial statements and
notes thereto, including Note N, filed herewith atidsuch information is incorporated herein byerehce.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

As a smaller reporting company, as defined in ROI¢)(1) of Regulation S-K under the Securities kaage
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), tioenPany is not required to provide the information
required by this item.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In addition to historical financial information,ishdiscussion of the business of SigmaTron Intéonat, Inc.
(“SigmaTron”), its wholly-owned subsidiaries Stardi€omponents de Mexico S.A., AbleMex, S.A. de C.V.
Digital Appliance Controls de Mexico, S.A. de C.8pitfire Controls (Vietnam) Co. Ltd., Spitfire Cools
(Cayman) Co. Ltd., wholly-owned foreign enterpri¥ésjiang SigmaTron Electronics Co., Ltd. and Sigmoair
Electronic Technology Co., Ltd. (collectively, “®m@Tron China”) and international procurement office
SigmaTron Taiwan branch (collectively, the “Compgrand other Items in this Annual Report on FormKLO
contain forward-looking statements concerning tbenany’s business or results of operations. Wsudh as
“continue,” “anticipate,” “will,” “expect,” “beliewe,” “plan,” and similar expressions identify forwalooking
statements. These forward-looking statementsasedon the current expectations of the Compamgatse
these forward-looking statements involve risks andertainties, the Company’s plans, actions anabhct
results could differ materially. Such statemetisuid be evaluated in the context of the risks amekrtainties
inherent in the Company’s business including, mitmecessarily limited to, the Company’s continued
dependence on certain significant customers; thérated market acceptance of products and servitesed
by the Company and its customers; pricing pressuoes the Company’s customers, suppliers and thexena
the activities of competitors, some of which mayengreater financial or other resources than thegzmy;
the variability of our operating results; the impaént of long-lived assets; the variability of @mwstomers’
requirements; the availability and cost of necgssamponents and materials; the ability of the Canypand
our customers to keep current with technologicaingjes within our industries; regulatory compliance,
including conflict minerals; the continued availéigiand sufficiency of our credit arrangementsacges in
U.S., Mexican, Chinese, Vietnamese or Taiwanesaladgns affecting the Company’s business; the tiirm
the global economy and financial markets; the tghif the U.S., Mexican, Chinese, Viethamese and
Taiwanese economic, labor and political systemscamditions; the impacts of tariffs; currency excpa
fluctuations; and the ability of the Company to @ge its growth. These and other factors which aftact
the Company’s future business and results of ojpeiatre identified throughout the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K and as risk factors, may bailbet from time to time in the Company’s filingsttvihe
Securities and Exchange Commission. These statsrapaak as of the date of such filings, and thegzony
undertakes no obligation to update such statenietitght of future events or otherwise unless regadiby law.

Overview

The Company operates in one business segmentiadependent provider of EMS, which includes printed
circuit board assemblies and completely assemiblex-louild) electronic products. In connection wiitie
production of assembled products, the Companygisades services to its customers, including (tpmatic
and manual assembly and testing of products; (2¢nma&sourcing and procurement; (3) manufactuengd
test engineering support; (4) design serviceswggehousing and distribution services; and (6)stesce in
obtaining product approval from governmental arfeentegulatory bodies. The Company provides these
manufacturing services through an internationalvogt of facilities located in the United States, m®,
China, Vietnam and Taiwan.
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The Company relies on numerous third-party supplier components used in the Company’s production
process. Certain of these components are avaitaityefrom single-sources or a limited number gfjgiers.

In addition, a customer’s specifications may regtite Company to obtain components from a singleesoor
a small number of suppliers. In the past twelventihe the component marketplace has experiencethglesr
of various components, which in some cases hageattidelivery of product to customers. The losamf such
suppliers could have a material impact on the Camsaesults of operations. Further, the Compamylc
operate at a cost disadvantage compared to coongetiho have greater direct buying power from siepgl
The Company does not enter into long-term purchgseements with major or single-source suppliditse
Company believes that short-term purchase ordetsitgisuppliers provides flexibility, given thauet
Company’s orders are based on the changing neetisaafstomers.

Sales can be a misleading indicator of the Comgsafityancial performance. Sales levels can vary
considerably among customers and products dependitige type of services (turnkey versus consigrmen
rendered by the Company and the demand by custor@enssignment orders require the Company to perfor
manufacturing services on components and otherriatsupplied by a customer, and the Company @sarg
only for its labor, overhead and manufacturing soglus a profit. In the case of turnkey ordére, Company
provides, in addition to manufacturing services, tbmponents and other materials used in asseribignkey
contracts, in general, have a higher dollar volafngales for each given assembly, owing to inclusibthe
cost of components and other materials in net saddscost of goods sold. Variations in the nundéeurnkey
orders compared to consignment orders can leadrdisant fluctuations in the Company’s revenue gnoss
margin levels. Consignment orders accounted & fkan 1% of the Company’s revenues for eachedfishal
years ended April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018.

The Company'’s international footprint provides oustomers with flexibility within the Company to
manufacture in China, Mexico, Vietham or the U\8e believe this strategy will continue to serve the
Company well as its customers continuously evaltre# supply chain strategies.

As the Company enters fiscal 2020, uncertainty iegnaervasive in the market. The trade war witin@h
weighs heavily on the Company’s operations. Custsrare continuing to re-evaluate their supply chand
the uncertainty regarding trade policy remainsfficdit variable to manage. The Company has sken t
electronic component marketplace calm down mode§the primary change is a shortening of lead-tione
some components, which assists in lowering invgraod reacting more efficiently to the volatility o
customer demand requirements.

The Company believes it is heading into fiscal y#@20 with a solid plan and some appealing new
opportunities ahead of it. Current customers anadhing new programs and several new customers are
starting to ramp production. However, the laborkets remain tight. The Company’s focus will reman
reducing inventory levels and increasing cash flagshe trade volatility remains. The Companypsmistic
regarding the fiscal year ahead of it and if tlaelérwars are resolved, it would appear that tteeserne
additional upside available for fiscal year 2020.

Critical Accounting Policies:

Management Estimates and Uncertainti@$e preparation of consolidated financial statet®ién
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) reqa
management to make estimates and assumptiondfietttae reported amounts of assets and liatslied
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the consolidated financial statemantsthe
reported amounts of revenues and expenses dugngplorting period. Significant estimates made in
preparing the consolidated financial statementisidecdepreciation and amortization periods, thevadhce for
doubtful accounts, reserves for inventory, lowecadt or market adjustment for inventory, contirtgen
consideration, deferred taxes, uncertain tax pstivaluation allowance for deferred taxes andatan of
goodwill and long-lived assets. Actual resultsldanaterially differ from these estimates.

Revenue RecogniticriThe Company recognizes revenue when contrdl@ptomised goods or services are
transferred to its customers, in an amount théeesf the consideration the Company expects tahiesl to

in exchange for those goods or services. The Coygarimary performance obligation to its customisrthe
production of finished goods electronic assembbdpcts pursuant to purchase orders. The Company ha

21



concluded that control of the products it sells &adsfers to its customers and an enforceabl¢ tigteceive
payment is customarily established at the poitinire when the finished goods are shipped to itsocners, or
in some cases delivered pursuant to the specifiggbisig terms of each customer arrangement. Végpect to
consignment arrangements, control transfers arehrevis recognized at the point in time when thedgare
shipped to the customer from the consignment lonair when delivered to the customer (pursuangteex
upon shipping terms). In those limited instancégm finished goods delivered to the customer iogare
stored in a segregated area which are not cordrblfethe customer (title transfer, etc.) until treeg pulled
from the segregated area and consumed by the Cgrsgarstomerrevenue is recognized upon consumption.
For tooling services, the Company’s performancégakibn is satisfied at the point in time when tustomer
takes possession of dies or molds. For engineadegjgn, and testing services, the Company’s pagnce
obligations are satisfied over time as the respedeérvices are rendered as its customers simaliahederive
value from the Company’s performance. From thetihat a customer purchase order is received amdacd
is established, the Company’s performance obligatare typically fulfilled within a few weeks. The
Company does not have any performance obligatimatsréquire more than one year to fulfill.

Each customer purchase order sets forth the triosawice for the products and services purchaseter that
arrangement. The Company evaluates the credihimess of its customers and exercises judgment to
recognize revenue based upon the amount the Conepgegts to be paid for each sales transactiantére
into with its customers. Some customer arrangesneotude variable consideration, such as volurbates,
some of which depend upon the Company’s customeeting specified performance criteria, such as a
purchasing level over a period of time. The Conypaxercises judgment to estimate the most likelpamh of
variable consideration at each reporting date.

Inventories Inventories are valued at cost. Cost is deteechby an average cost method and the
Company allocates labor and overhead to work-ircgge and finished goods. In the event of an irovgnt
write-down, the Company records expense to statétrentory at lower of cost or net realizable eald he
Company establishes inventory reserves for valoasibrinkage, and excess and obsolete inventang. T
Company records provisions for inventory shrinkbgeed on historical experience to account for uisoneal
usage or loss. The Company records provisioneXoess and obsolete inventories for the differdrateeen
the cost of inventory and its estimated realizafaleie based on assumptions about future produchdémnd
market conditions. For convenience, the Compaogras these inventory reserves against the invgictust
through a contra asset rather than through a netbesis. Upon a subsequent sale or disposaéadfripaired
inventory, the corresponding reserve is relievedrsure the cost basis of the inventory reflecysraductions.
Actual results differing from these estimates caifghificantly affect the Company’s inventories arubt of
products sold as the inventory is sold or otherwédieved.

Intangible AssetsIntangible assets are comprised of finite lifaimgible assets including patents,
trade names, backlog, non-compete agreements,uataheer relationships. Finite life intangible assee
amortized on a straight line basis over their estén useful lives of 5 years for patents, 20 y&argade
names, 1 year for backlog and 7 years for non-cterpgreements except for customer relationshipswuie
amortized on an accelerated basis over their estinsseful life of 15 years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Asset3he Company reviews long-lived assets, includingrtizable
intangible assets, for impairment. Property, maehji and equipment and finite life intangible asset
reviewed whenever events or changes in circumssamoeur that indicate possible impairment. If ésen
changes in circumstances occur that indicate plessitpairment, the Company first performs an impesint
review based on an undiscounted cash flow anadydise lowest level at which cash flows of the ldingd
assets are largely independent of other groupts eSsets and liabilities. This analysis requinesagement
judgment with respect to changes in technologyctminued success of product lines, and futurame|,
revenue and expense growth rates. If the carnyéhge exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, the @oynp
records an impairment, if any, for the differenetvzen the estimated fair value of the asset gamdjits
carrying value. The Company further conducts ahraaews for idle and underutilized equipment, and
reviews business plans for possible impairmenthénfourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, the Conypan
determined that the carrying value of the tradeaartangible asset was not recoverable and reca@dedrth
quarter charge of $690,107 for the entire carrgngunt. The Company’s analysis for fiscal year®@itl not
indicate that any of its other long-lived assetsenmpaired.
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Income Tax The Company’s income tax expense, deferredgaata and liabilities and reserves for
unrecognized tax benefits reflect management’s destssment of estimated future taxes to be [Fdid.
Company is subject to income taxes in both the &nf.several foreign jurisdictions. Significandgments
and estimates by management are required in deti@igrthe consolidated income tax expense assessment

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arerdeteed based on differences between financial teggpand
tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are medsusing the enacted tax rates and laws that gexted to be
in effect when the differences are expected torsaveln evaluating the Company’s ability to reaoit®
deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction fromieththey arise, the Company considers all availpbkstive
and negative evidence, including scheduled reverfadeferred tax liabilities, projected futureadhle income,
tax planning strategies and recent financial opmmat In projecting future taxable income, the Qamy
begins with historical results and changes in asting policies, and incorporates assumptions iriolyithe
amount of future state, federal and foreign preejarating income, the reversal of temporary déffees, and
the implementation of feasible and prudent tax pilag strategies. These assumptions require Sogmifi
judgment and estimates by management about theafsteeof future taxable income and are consistéhtthe
plans and estimates the Company uses to managedkeying businesses. In evaluating the objective
evidence that historical results provide, the Comypeonsiders three years of cumulative operatingrime
and/or loss. Valuation allowances are establistieeh necessary to reduce deferred income tax gesafts
amount more likely than not to be realized. Thenpany’s valuation allowance was $1,294,605 and1¥X8,
as of April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018, respedijve

The calculation of the Company'’s tax liabilitiesatves dealing with uncertainties in the applicataf
complex tax laws and regulations in a multitudguokdictions across its global operations. Chariggax
laws and rates could also affect recorded defdeedssets and liabilities in the future. Excephated below,
management is not aware of any such changes thatl\lwave a material effect on the Company’s resflts
operations, cash flows or financial position.

A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position mayydre recognized when it is more likely than naittthe
position will be sustained upon examination, inahgdresolutions of any related appeals or litigajiwocesses,
based on the technical merits.

The Company adjusts its tax liabilities when itdgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new
information not previously available. Due to tlmplexity of some of these uncertainties, the wtien
resolution may result in a payment that is matiridifferent from its current estimate of the taadlilities.
These differences will be reflected as increasafeoreases to income tax expense in the periodhichvthey
are determined.

Reclassifications €ertain reclassifications have been made to théqusly reported 2018 financial
statements to conform to the 2019 presentatioreréltvas no change to net income.

New Accounting Standards:

See Note B — Summary of Significant Accounting el in the consolidated financial statements.
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Results of Operations:

FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2019 COMPARED
TO FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2018

The following table sets forth the percentage iafesthips of expense items to net sales for thesyiedicated:

Fiscal Years
2019 2018
Net sales 100.0% 100.0%
Operating expenses:
Cost of products sold 90.9 90.4
Selling and administrative expenses 8.0 8.3
Impairment of goodwill and intangible asset - 14
Loss on settlement of receivable and disposallatee
assets - 0.9
Total operating expenses 98.9 101.0
Operating income (loss) 1.1% (1.0%)

Net sales increased 4.5% to $290,553,951 in fiseal 2019 from $278,131,709 in the prior year. The
Company’s sales increased in fiscal year 2019duastrial electronics and medical/life science mipleees as
compared to the prior year. The increase in sidélars for these marketplaces was partially offsea
decrease in sales dollars in the consumer elecgonarketplace. Revenues started an upward tuatdhe
fourth fiscal quarter of fiscal year 2019.

The Company’s sales in a particular industry areetirby the fluctuating forecasts and end-marketated of
the customers within that industry. Sales to qustit are subject to variations from period to gedepending
on customer order cancellations, the life cycleustomer products and product transition. Salélseto
Company’s five largest customers accounted for¥and 50.2% of net sales for fiscal years 2019201,
respectively.

Gross profit decreased to $26,341,769, or 9.1%ebs&ales, in fiscal year 2019 compared to $26,8&20
9.6% of net sales, in the prior fiscal year. Tkerdase in gross profit dollars for fiscal year2@ms primarily
the result of margin pressures from both custoraedsvendors and product mix. Margin pressuresimaat
from both customers and vendors. However, priceegises were implemented in fiscal year 2019 foreso
customers.

Selling and administrative expenses increasedsaalfiyear 2019 to $23,263,117,800% of net sales compared
to $23,089,939, or 8.3% of net sales, in fiscal @8. The increase in selling and administradiokars was
attributable to sales salaries, bad debt expees@rgl insurance, accounting professional feedinadcing

fees. The increase in the foregoing selling andiaidtrative expenses were partially offset by erdase in
legal professional fees, bonus expense and otmergleadministrative expenses. Selling and adinatige
expenses decreased as a percent of net sales @uéntrease in net sales in fiscal year 2019 coscpt@ the
prior year.

During fiscal year 2018, the Company recorded algdlband intangible asset impairment in the amaaint
$3,913,006 and the write off of the account redgliwand note receivable related to a customerdrathount
of $2,509,423. See Note E - Related Parties artid 8o Intangible Asset.

Other income increased in fiscal year 2019 to $20®compared to other income of $144,574 in therpri
fiscal year. The increase in other income is dudaé¢ Company recording in fiscal year 2019 an-eatrbased
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on sales by Wagz in the amount of $91,920 to dtimame. However, the $91,920 was reserved as &adad
April 30, 2019.

Interest expense, net, increased to $2,413,29%aalfyear 2019 compared to $1,537,446 in fiscal p©18.
Interest expense increased primarily due to theeased borrowings under the Company’s banking
arrangements and mortgage obligations.

In fiscal year 2019, the Company had an incomeetgense of $1,731,415 compared to an income taefiben
of $1,060,452 in fiscal year 2018. The effectiaterfor the fiscal years ended April 30, 2019 apdil/80,
2018 was 199.86% and 24.6%, respectively. The &serén income tax expense as well as the accommanyi
change in the effective tax rate is the resulheftaluation allowance established on certain dedeiax assets
related to foreign net operating loss carryforwdrag more likely than not will not be realized edon
projected income in those jurisdictions and thedoif foreign currency remeasurement.

The Company reported a net loss of $865,114 ialfigear 2019 compared to a net loss of $3,241 87 fiscal
year 2018. Basic and diluted loss per share $oafiyear 2019 were $0.20 each, compared to bagidiluted
loss per share of $0.77 each for the fiscal yedeempril 30, 2018.

Liquidity and Capital Resources:
Operating Activities.

Cash flow used in operating activities was $1,600 fr the fiscal year ended April 30, 2019, conajgato
cash flow used in operating activities of $4,968,4t the prior fiscal year. Cash flow used in igtieg
activities was primarily the result of an incre@saccounts receivable in the amount of $5,134,29¥ecrease
in accounts payable of $3,699,388 and the reporétbss. The increase in accounts receivableeisdsult of
increased sales and the timing of paymefash flow used in operating activities was pastiaffset by a
decrease in inventory.

Cash flow used in operating activities was $4,9868 fbr the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018. Chstv used
in operating activities was primarily the resultasf increase in inventory in the amount of $13,845, The
increase in inventory is the result of an increéassistomer orders and in some cases orders basigef out.
Further, capacity issues in the component industgie it difficult to obtain some components to ctatep
assemblies for shipping. Cash flow used in opegaditivities was partially offset by the resultaof increase
in accounts payable, a decrease in prepaid expansesther assets.

Investing Activities.

In fiscal year 2019, the Company purchased in 8§2s861,629 in machinery and equipment to be uséikein
ordinary course of business. The Company hasweddorecasts from current customers for increased
business that would require additional investmemaipital equipment and facilities. To the extdiat these
forecasts come to fruition, the Company anticip#étes it will make additional machinery and equiprhe
purchases up to $6,000,000 in fiscal year 2020 Gtimpany anticipates purchases will be fundecayd
transactions. However, there is no assurancestledt increased business will be obtained or tleaCitimpany
will be able to obtain funding or leases at acdalptéerms, if at all, in the future.

In fiscal year 2018, the Company purchased in §8sh31,370 in machinery and equipment to be usékein
ordinary course of business. The Company purchasesfunded by the bank line of credit and lease
transactions.

Financing Activities.

Cash provided by financing activities was $3,268,8% the fiscal year ended April 30, 2019, complae

cash provided by financing activities of $6,676,M2%scal year 2018. Cash provided by financiot\dties
was primarily the result of net borrowings undeg kine of credit.
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Cash provided by financing activities was $6,678,%2 the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018. Casbvjged
by financing activities was primarily the resultregt borrowings under the line of credit and prasagnder
building notes. Proceeds under building notes dueesto the mortgage agreements on December 21,217
U.S. Bank to refinance the Company’s corporate geaders and its manufacturing facility in Elk Geov
Village, lllinois and the Company’s engineering atesign center in Elgin, lllinois.

Financing Summary.

Debt and capital lease obligations consisted ofdhewing at April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018:

2019 2018

Debt:

Notes Payabl- Banks $ 35,727,212 $ 29,279,631
Notes Payabl- Buildings 6,650,000 6,930,000
Notes Payabl- Equipment 1,328,753 1,548,770
Unamortized deferred financing costs (303,310) (319,332)
Total debt 43,402,655 37,439,069
Less current maturities 691,701 655,190
Long-term debt $ 42,710,954 $ 36,783,879
Capital lease obligations $ 4,802,158 $ 6,618,384
Less current maturities 1,939,374 2,320,538
Total capital lease obligations, less current parti $ 2,862,784 $ 4,297,846

Notes Payable - Banks

On March 31, 2017, the Company entered into a 85000 senior secured credit facility with U.S. Ban
which expires on March 31, 2022. The credit faci collateralized by substantially all of ther@pany’s
domestically located assets. The facility allows @ompany to choose among interest rates at whinhy
borrow funds: the bank fixed rate of five percentIBOR plus one and one half percent (effectiv&l§y9% at
April 30, 2019). Interest is due monthly. Undee senior secured credit facility, the Company ivayow up
to the lesser of (i) $35,000,000 or (ii) an amocenptal to a percentage of the eligible accountsvabke plus a
percentage of the eligible inventory (the “BorrogiiBase”).

On July 16, 2018, the Company and U.S. Bank entetecan amendment of the revolving line of crediter
the senior secured credit facility. The amendedlxéng credit facility allows the Company to bowap to

the lesser of (i) $45,000,000 (the “Revolving LDap”) less reserves or (ii) the Borrowing Base,imimore
than 90% of the Company’s Revolving Line Cap, extleat the 90% limitation will expire if the Compgs
actual revolving loans for 90 consecutive daysrafie amendment’s effective date are less than 80%e
Company'’s Borrowing Base and the Company maintaifixed Charge Coverage Ratio of 1.2 to 1.0 for fou
consecutive quarters. The amendment also imposdisnits on categories of inventory equal to $10,500
on raw materials, $10,000,000 on finished goods%28]000,000 on all eligible inventory.

On December 13, 2018, the Company and U.S. Barkeaxhtnto an amendment of the revolving creditlitgci
The amendment provides an exception to otherwisligible foreign receivables for up to $3,000,000 o
receivables paid by certain enumerated accounbdebtitside of the U.S. and Canada.

On March 22, 2019, the Company and U.S. Bank edhiete an amendment of the revolving credit fagilit
The amendment allows the Company to borrow upédekbser of (i) the Revolving Line Cap less resewe
(ii) the Borrowing Base, but no more than 95% & @ompany’s Revolving Line Cap until August 1, 2@t
90% on and after August 1, 2019. As of April 3019, there was $35,727,212 outstanding and $6,80%
unused availability under the U.S. Bank facilityhgqmared to an outstanding balance of $29,279,631 and
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$5,720,369 of unused availability at April 30, 2018 April 30, 2019, the Company was in compliandth
its financial covenant and other restrictive covgaainder the credit facility. Deferred financicasts of
$75,083 were capitalized during the fiscal yeareghdpril 30, 2019, which are amortized over thentef the
agreement. As of April 30, 2019 and April 30, 20t unamortized amount offset against outstandaig
was $209,162 and $192,502, respectively.

On March 15, 2019, the Company’s wholly-owned sdibsy, SigmaTron Electronic Technology Co., Ltd.,
entered into a credit facility with China ConstioatBank. Under the agreement SigmaTron Electronic
Technology Co., Ltd. can borrow up to 5,000,000 rRieibi, approximately $743,000 as of April 30, 20464
the facility is collateralized by Wujiang SigmaTr&tectronics Co., Ltd.'s manufacturing buildingitdrest is
payable monthly and the facility bears a fixed rieg rate of 6.09%. The term of the facility extetio March
14, 2024. There was no outstanding balance uhédatility at April 30, 2019.

Notes Payable - Buildings

The Company entered into a mortgage agreement oerfleer 21, 2017, in the amount of $5,200,000, with
U.S. Bank to refinance the property that servab@€ompany’s corporate headquarters and its ilino
manufacturing facility in EIk Grove Village, lllins. The note requires the Company to pay monthihcppal
payments in the amount of $17,333, bears intetesfized rate of 4.0% per year and is payable avity-
one month period. Deferred financing costs of 888 ,were capitalized in fiscal year 2018 which are
amortized over the term of the agreement. As ail 80, 2019, the unamortized amount included as a
reduction to long-term debt was $49,852. A fir@yment of approximately $4,347,778 is due on ootgef
March 31, 2022. The outstanding balance was $40880and $5,148,000 at April, 30 2019 and April 30,
2018, respectively.

The Company entered into a mortgage agreement oerfleer 21, 2017, in the amount of $1,800,000, with
U.S. Bank to refinance the property that servah@€ompany’s engineering and design center imElgi
lllinois. The note requires the Company to pay thbnprincipal payments in the amount of $6,00arise
interest at a fixed rate of 4.0% per year and y@pke over a fifty-one month period. Deferredafiging costs
of $65,381 were capitalized in the fiscal year 2@i8ch are amortized over the term of the agreeméstof
April 30, 2019 the unamortized amount included asdaiction to long-term debt was $44,006. A final
payment of approximately $1,505,000 is due on éwdeeMarch 31, 2022. The outstanding balance was
$1,710,000 and $1,782,000 at April, 30 2019 andIA0xr, 2018, respectively.

Notes Payable - Equipment

The Company routinely enters into secured noteeageats with Engencap Fin S.A. DE C.V. to finanae th
purchase of equipment. The terms of these securtedagreements mature from November 2021 through Ma
2023, with quarterly installment payments rangirgnf $11,045 to $37,941 and a fixed interest ratgiray

from 6.65% to 8.00%.

Capital Lease and Sale Leaseback Obligations

From October 2013 through January 2019, the Compatered into various capital lease and sale leageb
agreements with a gross cost of $13,034,503. Thestef the lease agreements mature through Jag0asy
with monthly installment payments ranging from 540 $40,173 and a fixed interest rate rangingfro
3.75% to 8.00%. The net book value of the equiproeder these leases was $8,884,475 and $9,344,724 a
April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018, respectively.

Operating Leases

In September 2010, the Company entered into sestate lease agreement in Union City, Califorruagent
approximately 117,000 square feet of manufactusimg) office space. Under the terms of the leaseemgent,
the Company receives incentives over the life efldase, which extends through March 2021. Theuatmf
the deferred rent income recorded for fiscal yeatee April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018 was $128,508
$103,599, respectively. In addition, the landlprdvided the Company tenant incentives of $418,000¢ch
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are being amortized over the life of the leasee Balance of deferred rent at April 30, 2019, wWak8$568
compared to $447,073 at April 30, 2018.

On May 31, 2012, the Company entered into a legsgeaent in Tijuana, Mexico, to rent approximately
112,000 square feet of manufacturing and officespaJnder the terms of the lease agreement, thgp&ay
receives incentives over the life of the leasecilexpired in November 2018. The amount of thewmlefl rent
income for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2019 apdil 30, 2018 was $85,527 and $139,437, respelstiv
The balance of deferred rent at April 30, 2019, §@sompared to $85,527 at April 30, 2018.

Other

The Company provides funds for salaries, wagesheael and capital expenditure items as necessary to
operate its wholly-owned Mexican, Viethamese anth€de subsidiaries and the Taiwan IPO. The Company
provides funding in U.S. Dollars, which are excheeshdor Pesos, Dong, Renminbi, and New Taiwan dallar
The fluctuation of currencies from time to timethaut an equal or greater increase in inflatiomlddave a
material impact on the financial results of the @amy. The impact of currency fluctuations for fiseal year
ended April 30, 2019, resulted in net foreign cocsetransaction losses of approximately $433,748pared
to net foreign currency gains of $125,000 in themyear. In fiscal year 2019, the Company paid
approximately $53,090,000 to its foreign subsidigri

The Company anticipates that its credit facilitiessh flow from operations and leasing resourcesdequate
to meet its working capital requirements and capitpenditures for fiscal year 2020. In additianthe event
the Company desires to expand its operationsugsbss grows more rapidly than expected, the curre
economic climate deteriorates, customers delay paysnor the Company desires to consummate an
acquisition, additional financing resources maybeessary in the current or future fiscal yearnser& is no
assurance that the Company will be able to obigiitg or debt financing on acceptable terms, allain the
future. There is no assurance that the Companypwiable to retain or renew its credit agreemantie
future, or that any retention or renewal will betha same terms as currently exist.

The impact of inflation on the Company’s net satesenues and income from operations for the pasfiscal
years has been minimal.

Off-balance Sheet Transactions:
The Company has no off-balance sheet transactions.
Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations:

As a smaller reporting company, as defined in ROE)(1) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Alog
Company is not required to provide the informatiequired by this item.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

As a smaller reporting company, as defined in ROI¢)(1) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Alog
Company is not required to provide the informatiequired by this item.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DAT A

The response to this item is included in Item 15fahis Report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls:
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The Company’s management, including its Presidedt@hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ©#ft,
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and tiperef its disclosure controls and proceduresd@fmed
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astk(ttie “Exchange Act”), and Rules 13a-15(e) and)t5
15(e) thereunder) as of April 30, 2019. The Comyfmdisclosure controls and procedures are desitmed
provide reasonable assurance of achieving the@ctibes and its President and Chief Executive @ffand
Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Compangisclosure controls and procedures were effeetithe
reasonable assurance level as of April 30, 2019.

Internal Controls:

The Company’s management is responsible for estabj and maintaining adequate internal controt ove
financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rul8a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). The Company’s intecwaitrols
over financial reporting are designed to providesmmable assurance regarding the reliability @frfamal
reporting and preparation of financial statemeatskternal purposes in accordance with U.S. GARRder
the supervision and with the participation of thenpany’s management, including its Chief Execu@ftcer
and Chief Financial Officer, the Company condu@acdvaluation of the effectiveness of our integmaitrol
over financial reporting based on the frameworknbernal Control — Integrated Framework (1992) éxsby
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@livay Commission. On May 14, 2013, COSO issued an
updated version of its Internal Control - Integdakgamework (the “2013 Framework”) which officially
superseded the 1992 Framework on December 15, 2Ddidinally issued in 1992, the framework helps
organizations design, implement and evaluate tleetdfeness of internal control concepts and sifyplieir
use and application. Neither COSO, the SecuriesExchange Commission or any other regulatory had
mandated adoption of the 2013 Framework by a Spdaifate. The Company implemented the 2013
Framework in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2018.sB@ on the Company’s evaluation, management coedlud
that its internal controls over financial reportingre effective at the reasonable assurance levafl April 30,
20109.

This annual report does not include an attestaport of the Company’s registered public accognfirm
regarding internal control over financial reportinglanagement’s report was not subject to attestdty the
Company’s registered public accounting firm purddarhe rules of the Securities and Exchange Casion
that permit the Company to provide only managensengport in this annual report.

There has been no change in the Company’s inteamditol over financial reporting during the fisgalar
ended April 30, 2019, that has materially affeateds reasonably likely to materially affect itsgmal control
over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE
The information required under this item is incaqded herein by reference to the Company’s defimitiroxy

statement, to be filed with the Securities and Bxgfe Commission not later than 120 days after ltse ©of
the Company’s fiscal year ended April 30, 2019.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under this item is incaaded herein by reference to the Company’s defimitiroxy
statement, to be filed with the Securities and Bxgfe Commission not later than 120 days after ltse of
the Company’s fiscal year ended April 30, 2019.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under this item is incagded herein by reference to the Company’s defiaitiroxy
statement, to be filed with the Securities and Bxgfe Commission not later than 120 days after ltise of
the Company’s fiscal year ended April 30, 2019.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIO NS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required under this item is incaqded herein by reference to the Company’s defimitiroxy
statement, to be filed with the Securities and Bxgfe Commission not later than 120 days after ltse of
the Company’s fiscal year ended April 30, 2019.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required under this item is incagded herein by reference to the Company’s defiaitiroxy

statement, to be filed with the Securities and Bxgfe Commission not later than 120 days after ltise ©f
the Company’s fiscal year ended April 30, 2019.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@)(1)
The financial statements are listed in the Indekitmncial Statements filed as part of this AnriReport on
Form 10-K beginning on Page F-1.

@)(2)

Financial statement schedules are omitted bechageate not applicable or required.

(a)(3) and (b)

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulationk Sre listed in the Index to Exhibits filed as pafthis
Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on Page 31.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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3.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.10

10.11

Index to Exhibits

Certificate of Incorporation of the Compamgarporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 3302 tated February 9, 1994. (P)(Rule 311)

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company, adapteSeptember 24, 1999, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Comparorm 10-K for the fiscal year ended April
30, 2000.

Form of 1993 Stock Option Plan, incorpordterkin by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,Hde33-72100.* (P)(Rule 311)

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreementtfee Company’s 1993 Stock Option Plan ,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5heCompany’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 33-72100.* (P)(Rule 311)

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreenfenthe Company’s 1993 Stock Option Plan,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.theoCompany’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 33-72100.* (P)(Rule 311)

2004 Employee Stock Option Plan, incorporated hdvgireference to Appendix B to the
Company’s 2004 Proxy Statement filed on August2ZD®4. *

SigmaTron International, Inc. 2011 Employee Stogki@h Plan dated September 16, 2011,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 filed on December 14, 2011.*

Purchase Agreement between SigmaTron Internatiomal,and its nominees and Spitfire
Control, Inc., dated as of May 31, 2012, incorpeddterein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2012.

SigmaTron International, Inc. 2013 Employee StookcRase Plan dated September 20, 2013,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1thto Company’s Form 8-K filed on
September 25, 2013.*

SigmaTron International, Inc. 2013 Non-Employeeebior Restricted Stock Plan dated
September 20, 2013, incorporated herein by referem&xhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form
8-K filed on September 25, 2013.*

Mortgage and Assignment of Rents and Leases exdastef October 24, 2013, by SigmaTron
International, Inc., to Wells Fargo Bank, NatioAakociation, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s ForrQlflled on December 13, 2013.

Master Lease Agreement # 2170 entered into betwssaciated Bank, National Association,
a national banking association and SigmaTron lat&wnal, Inc., dated October 3, 2013,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 102¢ht Company’s Form 10-Q filed on
December 13, 2013.

SigmaTron International, Inc. Amended and Rest@tieainge in Control Severance Payment
Plan dated March 11, 2014, incorporated hereirefgrence to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K/A filed on March 14, 2014.*
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10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Master Lease Number 81344 entered into betweerF@idnce LLC and SigmaTron
International, Inc., dated March 6, 2014, incorpedsherein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to
the Company’s Form 10-K filed on July 24, 2014.

Schedule # 1217927 to Master Lease Agreement NugiB#4 entered into between CIT
Finance LLC and SigmaTron International, Inc. dad#al 7, 2014, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Forntlélled on September 11, 2014.

Schedule # 1223197 to Master Lease Agreement Nugii#4 entered into by and between
CIT Finance LLC and SigmaTron International, Inatedl August 1, 2014, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s FAG filed on December 12, 2014.

Lease No. 003 is an attachment to Master | eas@ Nt dated October 17, 2013 by and
between Associated Bank, National Association agch&Tron International, Inc. dated
September 22, 2014, incorporated herein by referem&xhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form
10-Q filed on December 12, 2014.

Lease No. 004 is an attachment to Master Leas@NgD dated October 17, 2013 by and
between Associated Bank, National Association dagch&Tron International, Inc. dated
September 22, 2014, incorporated herein by referem&xhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form
10-Q filed on December 12, 2014.

Lease No. 005 is an attachment to Master | eas@ Nt dated October 17, 2013 by and
between Associated Bank, National Association agch&Tron International, Inc. dated
September 22, 2014, incorporated herein by referem&xhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form
10-Q filed on December 12, 2014.

Schedule # 1246045 to Master Lease Agreement Nugi®#4 entered into by and between
CIT Finance LLC and SigmaTron International, Inatetl October 27, 2014, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Compamdrm 10-Q filed on December 12, 2014.

First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated €rsglieement entered into as of March
7, 2015, by and between SigmaTron International, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, incorporated herein by reference thilkik10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
on March 12, 2015.

Lease No. 006 is an attachment to Master | eas@ Nt dated October 17, 2013 by and
between Associated Bank, National Association agch&Tron International, Inc. dated
January 16, 2015, incorporated herein by referémé&sxhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-
Q filed on March 16, 2015.

Schedule # 1284094 to Master Lease Agreement Nugi®#4 entered into by and between
CIT Finance LLC and SigmaTron International, Inatedl June 2, 2015, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s ForaKlfiled on July 24, 2015.

Lease No. 007 is an attachment to Master | eas@ N&) dated October 17, 2013 by and
between Association Bank, National Association SiinaTron International, Inc. dated
December 22, 2015, incorporated herein by referéméshibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
10-Q filed on March 15, 2016.

SigmaTron International, Inc. Employee Bonus PtarHiscal Year 2017 dated June 2, 2016,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1heoCompany’s Form 8-K filed on June 6,
2016.*

SigmaTron International, Inc. 2013 Employee StoakchRase Plan disclosed on Form 8-K
dated September 20, 2013, has been terminatediedfas of August 15, 2016, incorporated
herein by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K fidedAugust 15, 2016.*
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10.25 Lease No. 009, entered into July 15, 2016, is &atlment to Master Lease No. 2170 dated
October 17, 2013 by and between Associated BantoiNd Association and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by refeito Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-
Q filed on September 13, 2016.

10.26 Lease No. 010, entered into August 8, 2016, ist@acl@ment to Master Lease No. 2170 dated
October 17, 2013 by and between Associated BantiNd Association and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by refeito Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-
Q filed on December 12, 2016.

10.27 Promissory Note, entered into November 1, 2016Grx/between ENGENCAP FIN, S.A. DE
C.V., SOFOM, E.N.R. and SigmaTron Internationag.] incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed onstal4, 2017.

10.28 SigmaTron International, Inc. Employee Bonus PtarHiscal Year 2018 dated April 21, 2017,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.theeCompany’s Form 8-K filed on April 25,
2017*

10.29 Promissory Note, entered into January 5, 2017 niovteetween ENGENCAP FIN, S.A. DE

C.V., SOFOM, E.N.R. and SigmaTron Internationat.] incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed aniyJ24, 2017.

10.30 Lease No. 011, entered into May 8, 2017, is arcltient to Master Lease No. 2170 dated
October 17, 2013 by and between Associated BantoiNd Association and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by referio Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Form
10-K filed on July 24, 2017.

10.31 Lease No. 012, entered into May 8, 2017, is arcclatnt to Master Lease No. 2170 dated
October 17, 2013 by and between Associated BantigiNd Association and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by refeito Exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s Form
10-K filed on July 24, 2017.

10.32 Loan and Security Agreement between SigmaTronnaternal, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association dated March 31, 2017, incorporatedihdre reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the
Company’ Form 10-K filed on July 24, 2017.

10.33 Promissory Note, entered into June 1, 2017, bybetleen ENGENCAP FIN, S.A. DE C.V.,
SOFOM, E.N.R. AND SigmaTron International, Inccanporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed orpt&enber 13, 2017.

10.34 Lease No. 013, entered into July 6, 2017, is aachthent to Master Lease No. 2170 dated
October 17, 2013 by and between Associated BantiNd Association and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by refeeto Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-
Q filed on September 13, 2017.

10.35 Lease No. 1, entered into September 13, 2017, &dtachment to Master Lease No. 2017389
dated August 15, 2017 by and between First Amer@ammercial Bancorp, Inc. and
SigmaTron International, Inc., incorporated hetaimeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on December 12, 2017.

10.36 Lease No. 2, entered into October 9, 2017, is tackainent to Master Lease No. 2017389 dated
August 15, 2017 by and between First American Corni@eBancorp, Inc. and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by refeito Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-
Q filed on December 12, 2017.
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Promissory Note, entered into October 12, 201 Arx/between ENGENCAP FIN, S.A. DE
C.V., SOFOM, E.N.R. and SigmaTron Internationat. Iincorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed oncBmber 12, 2017.

Real Property mortgage (Cook County, Illinois) madeof the 23 day of December, 2017, is
made and executed by SigmaTron International,(fiMortgagor”) and U.S. Bank National
Assaociation (“Lender”), incorporated herein by refece to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 10-Q filed on March 14, 2018.

Real Property mortgage (Kane County, lllinois) madef the 294 day of December, 2017, is
made and executed by SigmaTron International,(fiMortgagor”) and U.S. Bank National
Association (“Lender”), incorporated herein by refece to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’'s
Form 10-Q filed on March 14, 2018.

Lease No. 3, entered into December 20, 2017, &tanhment to Master Lease No. 2017389
dated August 15, 2017 by and between First Amer@@ammercial Bancorp, Inc. and
SigmaTron International, Inc., incorporated hetsjrreference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on March 14, 2018.

Lease No. 4, entered into January 9, 2018, istanhahent to Master Lease No. 2017389 dated
August 15, 2017 by and between First American ComimaeBancorp, Inc. and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by refeeto Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-
Q filed on March 14, 2018.

Asset Purchase Agreement effective April 30, 2048vben SigmaTron International, Inc. and
Wagz, Inc., incorporated herein by reference toiltikB89.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K/A
filed on May 4, 2018.

SigmaTron International, Inc. Employee Bonus P@arHiscal Year 2019 dated July 12, 2018,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.fheoeCompany’s Form 8-K filed on July 16,
2018.*

Amendment No.1 to Amended and Restated Loan andgriBefAgreement entered into as of
July 16, 2018, by and between SigmaTron Internatidnc., and U.S. Bank National
Association incorporated herein by reference toiliikh0.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed

onJuly 17, 2018.

Lease No. 5, entered into March 15, 2018, is aachthent to Master Lease No. 2017389 dated
August 15, 2017 by and between First American Corni@eBancorp, Inc. and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by refeito Exhibit 10.45 to the Company’s Form
10-K filed on July 24, 2018.

Lease No. 6, entered into April 20, 2018, is aadihtinent to Master Lease No. 2017389 dated
August 15, 2017 by and between First American ComiakeBancorp, Inc. and SigmaTron
International, Inc., incorporated herein by referio Exhibit 10.46 to the Company’s Form
10-K filed on July 24, 2018.

Promissory Note, entered into May 1, 2018, by aginivben ENGENCAP FIN, S.A. DE C.V.,
SOFOM, E.N.R. and SigmaTron International, Inccomporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on Septenii3r2018.

SigmaTron International, Inc. 2018 Non-Employeeebior Restricted Stock Plan dated
September 21, 2018, incorporated herein by referem&xhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K filed on September 24, 2018.*
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Lease No. 7, entered into October 17, 2018, idtagtament to Master Lease No. 2017389
dated August 15, 2017 by and between First Amer@ammercial Bancorp, Inc. and
SigmaTron International, Inc., incorporated hetsjrreference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on December 12, 2018.

Lease No. 8, entered into January 25, 2019, istaolement to Master Lease No. 2017389
dated Auqust 15, 2017 by and between First Amer@ammercial Bancorp, Inc. and
SigmaTron International, Inc., incorporated hetminmeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on March 15, 2019.

Lease No. 9, entered into January 25, 2019, igtaohement to Master Lease No. 2017389
dated August 15, 2017 by and between First Amer@ammercial Bancorp, Inc. and
SigmaTron International, Inc., incorporated hetwimeference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on March 15, 2019.

SigmaTron International, Inc. Employee Bonus P@arHiscal Year 2020 dated July 12, 2019,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.fhiveCompany’s Form 8-K filed on July 15,
2019.*

Subsidiaries of the Registrant, incorporated hebgireference to Exhibit 21 to the Company’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 20fikd on July 24, 2014.

Consent of BDO USA, LLP.**

Power of Attorney of Directors and Executive Offe€included on the signature page of this
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 20%9)

Certification of Principal Executive Officer of tl@ompany Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under
the Exchange Act, as adopted Pursuant to SectiprofBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**

Certification of Principal Financial Officer of tt@ompany Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under
the Exchange Act, as Adopted Pursuant to Secti@o8the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**

Certification by the Principal Executive Officer 8fgmaTron International, Inc. Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(b) under the Exchange Act and Sectiéndd the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(18 U.S.C. 1350).**

Certification by the Principal Financial Officer 8fgmaTron International, Inc. Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(b) under the Exchange Act and Secliéndd the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(18 U.S.C. 1350).**
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101.INS  XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linklga®ocument
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linklga®ocument
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Dowent
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation LagéDocument

* Indicates management contract or compensatory. pla
** Filed herewith

(c) Exhibits

The Company hereby files as exhibits to this Refhartexhibits listed in Item 15(a)(3) above, whiak
attached hereto or incorporated herein.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas
duly caused this Report to be signed on its bdhathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SIGMATRON INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/ Gary R. Fairhead

Gary R. Fairhead, President and Chief Executivécexf
Principal Executive Officer and Director

Dated: July 24, 2019

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the usdgred directors and officers of SigmaTron
International, Inc., a Delaware corporation, whigfiling an Annual Report on Form 10-K with thecBeties
and Exchange Commission under the provisions oStwmurities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended, hereby
constitute and appoint Gary R. Fairhead and Lindaruendorfer, and each of them, each of thedér and
lawful attorneys-in fact and agents, with full paoved substitution and resubstitution, for him anchis name,
place and stead, in all capacities, to sign arglla@mendments to the report to be filed with tleeBities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneyfadt and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every actthimg) requisite and necessary to be done in andtdabe
premises, as fully to all intents and purposesaa f them might or could do in person, herebijyia and
confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agesr any of them, or their substitute or subs#ymay
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe
following persons on behalf of the Registrant amthie capacities, and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
[s/ Gary R. Fairhead Chairman of the Board of Directors, July 24, 2019
Gary R. Fairhead President and Chief Executivec®xfi
(Principal Executive Officer) and Director
[s/ Linda K. Frauendorfer Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer ly 24, 2019
Linda K. Frauendorfer (Principal Financial Officand Principal

Accounting Officer) and Director

/sl Thomas W. Rieck Director July 24, 2019
Thomas W. Rieck

[s/ Dilip S. Vyas Director July 24, 2019
Dilip S. Vyas

[s/ Paul J. Plante Director July 24, 2019

Paul J. Plante

[s/ Barry R. Horek Director July 24, 2019
Barry R. Horek

[s/ Bruce J. Mantia Director July 24, 2019
Bruce J. Mantia
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Stockholders and Board of Directors
SigmaTron International, Inc.
Elk Grove Village, lllinois

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Sigmatron International, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of April 30, 20189da2018, the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flowsefach of the years then ended, and the relatab not
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated fioel statements”). In our opinion, the consolidate
financial statements present fairly, in all matergspects, the financial position of the Companaril

30, 2019 and 2018, and the results of their opmratand their cash flows for each of the years ¢émeled

in conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are thponssbility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Canyfs consolidated financial statements based on ou
audits. We are a public accounting firm registeséti the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to bdejpendent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applie rules and regulations of the Securities amth&nge
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstas of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabl@rasse about whether the consolidated financial

statements are free of material misstatement, ehelhe to error or fraud. The Company is not reglir

to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an adidis anternal control over financial reporting. Asrt

of our audits we are required to obtain an undedsitg of internal control over financial reportibgt not

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on thectiffeness of the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsopinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to asthessasks of material misstatement of the considid
financial statements, whether due to error or fraumdl performing procedures that respond to thiege.r
Such procedures included examining, on a test msbence regarding the amounts and disclosur®in
consolidated financial statements. Our audits mislnded evaluating the accounting principles used
significant estimates made by management, as welkwaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe dhaiaudits provide a reasonable basis for our opini

BDO USA, LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2006.

Chicago, lllinois
July 24, 2019
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SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
APRIL 30, 2019 and 2018

ASSETS 2019 2018

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,005810 $ 1,721,599
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfeloaats of
$631,283 and $300,000 at April 30, 2019 and 2018

respectively 31,441,381 26,638,367
Inventories, net 85,579,575 86,929,793
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,436,894 1,948,748
Refundable and prepaid income taxes 1,339,739 1,655,409
Other receivables 1,741,890 1,135,810
Total current assets 123,545,289 120,029,726
PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 33,232,769 35,288,997

OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

Intangible assets, net 2,713,360 3,088,085
Deferred income taxes 384,022 1,109,681
Other assets 1,589,325 1,713,481
Total other long-term assets 4,686,707 5,911,247
TOTAL ASSETS $ 161,464,765 $ 161,229,970

The accompanying notes are an integral part otteEgements.
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SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS — CONTINUED

APRIL 30, 2019 and 2018

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Accrued wages

Income taxes payable

Current portion of long-term debt

Current portion of capital lease obligations

Contingent consideration
Current portion of deferred rent

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt,

less current portion
Capital lease obligations,

less current portion
Income taxes payable
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred rent, less current portion
Deferred income taxes

Total long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 500,000 shares
authorized, none issued or outstanding

Common stock, $.01 par value; 12,000,000 shares
authorized, 4,240,008 and 4,215,258 shares issued
and outstanding at April 30, 2019 and 2018, re$peigt

Capital in excess of par value
Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteetements.

2019 2018

45,627,014 49,326,402
2,410,311 2,930,792
4,680,399 3,730,755
60,921 -
691,701 655,190
2,834 2,320,538
57,537 213,460
139,509 201,349
55,606,766 59,378,486
42,710,954 36,783,879
2,862,784 4,297,846
500,263 498,000
1,155,907 1,130,557
179,059 331,251
161,583 -
47,570,550 43,041,533
103,177,316 102,420,019
42,146 41,896
23,474,379 23,132,017
34,770,924 35,636,038
58,287,449 58,809,951
161,464,765 161,229,970




SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended April 30, 2019 and 2018

Net sale

Cost of products sold

Gross profit

Selling and administrative expenses

Impairment of goodwill and intangible asset

Loss on settlement of receivable and disposallatee
assets

Operating income (loss)

Other income
Interest expense

Income (loss) before income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

NET LOSS

Loss per common share
Basic

Diluted

Weighted-average shares of common
stock outstanding
Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part otteegements.
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2019 2018
290,553,951 ¢ 278,131,709
264,212,182 251,528,791

26,341,769 26,602,918

23,263,117 23,089,939

- 3,913,006

- 2,509,423
3,078,652 (2,909,450)
(200,946) (144,574)
2,413,297 1,537,446
866,301 (4,302,322)
1,731,415 (1,060,452)
(865,114) g (3,241,870)
0.20) g (0.77)
0.20) g (0.77)
4,228,592 4,205,483
4,228,592 4,205,483




SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years ended April 30, 2019 and 2018

Balance at May 1, 2017

Recognition of stock-based
compensation

Exercise of stock options
Net los!

Balance at April 30, 2018

Recognition of stock-based
compensation

Restricted stock awards

Net los!

Balance at April 30, 2019

Capital in Total
Preferred Common  excess of par Retained stockholders’
stock stock value earnings equity
$ - 41,702 22,952,535 38,877,908 61,872,145
- - 83,659 - 83,659
- 194 95,823 - 96,017
- - - (3,241,870) (3,241,870)
- 41,896 23,132,017 35,636,038 58,809,951
- - 166,612 - 166,612
- 250 175,750 - 176,000
- - - (865,114) (865,114)
- $ 42,146 $ 23,474,379 $ 34,770,924 $ 58,287,449

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteetements.



SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended April 30, 2019 and 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash used in operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Restricted stock expense
Provision for doubtful accounts
Provision for inventory obsolescence
Loss on settlement of receivable and disposallafae assets
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of intangible asset
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of financing fees
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideration

Loss from disposal or sale of machinery and equigme
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Refundable and prepaid income taxes
Income taxes payable
Trade accounts payable
Deferred rent
Accrued expenses and wages
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of machinery and equipment
Proceeds from insurance settlement
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Advances on notes receivable
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options
Proceeds under equipment note
Payments of contingent consideration
Payments under capital lease and sale leasebaatragnts
Payments under equipment note
Proceeds under building notes payable
Payments under building notes payable
Borrowings under revolving line of credit
Payments under revolving line of credit
Payments of debt financing costs
Net cash provided by financing activities

Change in cash
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2019 2018 (As Revised)
(865,114) $ (3,241,870)
5,007,440 5,118,297
166,612 83,659
176,000 -
331,283 200,000
268,234 -
- 2,509,423
- 3,222,899
- 690,107
887,242 (2,234,885)
374,725 435,043
91,104 63,669
40,324 (84,344)
5,086 20,011
(5,134,297) (1,716,793)
1,081,984 (13,415,555)
(766,635) 1,509,675
315,670 1,31%,618)
63,184 428,132
(3,699,388) 3,166,007
(214,032) (243,036)
251,078 (163,300)
(1,619500 (4,968,479)
(2,361,629) (3,731,370)
- 251,395
(2,361,629) (3,479,975)
- (880,000)
- 96,017
182,557 943,136
(196,247) (226,014)
(2,410,895) (2,144,866)
(402,574) (297,328)
- 70000,
(280,000) (3,741,000)
333,6697 334,944,553
(327,168) (328,843,351)
(75,083) (174,418)
3,389, 6,676,729
(715,789) (1,771,725)



SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — CONTINUED
Years ended April 30, 2019 and 2018
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7211599 3,493,324
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1,005,810 $ 1,721,599
2019 2018
Supplementary disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 2,272,487 $ 1,435,067
Cash paid for income taxes 645,049 2,053,779
Purchase of machinery and equipment financed
under capital leases 617,470 3,687,221
203,435 152,730

Financing of insurance policy

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteetements.
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SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

SigmaTron International, Inc., its subsidiariesefgn enterprises and international procuremernt®ffcollectively,
the “Company”) operates in one business segmeahasdependent provider of electronic manufactusargyices
(“EMS™), which includes printed circuit board asddias and completely assembled (box-build) eledétrpnoducts.
In connection with the production of assembled potsl the Company also provides services to it$oouers,
including (1) automatic and manual assembly anting®f products; (2) material sourcing and procueet; (3)
manufacturing and test engineering support; (4)gdeservices; (5) warehousing and distribution Bes; and (6)
assistance in obtaining product approval from gorwmtal and other regulatory bodies. As of Ap@i) 3019, the
Company provided these manufacturing services gir@n international network of facilities locatedthe United
States, Mexico, China, Vietnam and Taiwan. Apprately 13.0% and 14.0% of the total non-currentsotidated
assets of the Company are located in foreign jiotieths outside the United States as of April 3012 and 2018,
respectively.

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Consolidation Policy

The consolidated financial statements include theoants and transactions of SigmaTron Internatjofrad.
(“SigmaTron”), its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Stand Components de Mexico, S.A., AbleMex S.A. de.CDigital
Appliance Controls de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., Spéfi€ontrols (Vietnam) Co. Ltd., Spitfire Controlsai@nan) Co.
Ltd. and SigmaTron International Trading Co., whallvned foreign enterprises Suzhou SigmaTron Edeats Co.
Ltd., and SigmaTron Electronic Technology Co., L{dollectively, “SigmaTron China”), and its intetmanal
procurement office, SigmaTron Taiwan. The funailorurrency of the Mexican, Viethamese and Chinese
subsidiaries and procurement branch is the U.9abolntercompany transactions are eliminatedhéxdonsolidated
financial statements. The impact of currency flations for the fiscal year ended April 30, 201&5ulted in net
foreign currency transaction losses of approxinyed33,742 compared to net foreign currency gafrgl 5,000 in

the prior year.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesé@nconformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in
the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires mgament to make estimates and assumptions thatt alffec
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andlaisces of contingent assets and liabilities at dage of the
consolidated financial statements and the repatadunts of revenues and expenses during the negqrériod.

Significant estimates made in preparing the codatdid financial statements include depreciationandrtization

periods, the allowance for doubtful accounts, nesefor inventory, lower of cost or net realizaiddue for inventory,
contingent consideration, deferred taxes, uncetéaipositions, valuation allowance for deferrecetaand valuation
of long-lived assets. Actual results could matbridiffer from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and allyhiiginid short-term investments with original méties within
three months of the purchase date.



SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTIN UED
April 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Accounts Receivable

The majority of the Company’s accounts receivalbéedue from companies in the industrial electranic;isumer
electronics and medical/life sciences industri€sedit is extended based on evaluation of a custerfieancial

condition, and, generally, collateral is not regdir Accounts receivable are due in accordance agthed upon
terms, and are stated at amounts due from custaraeds an allowance for doubtful accounts. Acdswutstanding
longer than the contractual payments terms areidemesl past due. The Company writes off accoustsivable
when they are determined to be uncollectible.

The Company has arrangements with various finaitséitutions to sell certain eligible accountsewable balances
from specific customers without recourse. The ant®ueceivable balances sold are at the electitheo€ompany.
The Company incurred fees for such sales, whichraflected as selling and administrative expenseshe
Company’s income statement and were not matenightfiscal year ended April 30, 2019 or April ZD18. The
accounts receivable balances are derecognizedeatirtte of sale, as the Company does not have aongn
involvement after the point of sale. During thenrgeended April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018, thempany sold
without recourse trade receivables of approxima®&ly,000,000 and $78,000,000, respectively. Castepds from
these agreements are reflected as operating agdiuicluded in the change in accounts receivabtee Company's
consolidated statements of cash flows.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts esldb receivables not expected to be collected fi®oustomers.
This allowance is based on management’s assessirsggrgcific customer balances, considering theshgeceivables

and financial stability of the customer and a fjar average of prior uncollectible amounts. #réhis an adverse
change in the financial condition of the Compargtstomers, or if actual defaults are higher thaviged for, an

addition to the allowance may be necessary.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at cost. Cost is determimedn average cost method and the Company albtater and
overhead to work-in-process and finished goodsthénevent of an inventory write-down, the Compaagords

expense to state the inventory at lower of costatirealizable value. The Company establishestove reserves
for shrinkage and excess and obsolete inventohe Qompany records provisions for inventory shrggkhased on
historical experience to account for unmeasuredjeisa loss. The Company records provisions foresxand
obsolete inventories for the difference betweendbst of inventory and its estimated realizableugabased on
assumptions about future product demand and madkaditions. For convenience, the Company recandset
inventory reserves against the inventory cost thinoa contra asset rather than through a new caegt.bépon a
subsequent sale or disposal of the impaired invgntioe corresponding reserve is relieved to entheeost basis of
the inventory reflects any reductions. Actual hesdiffering from these estimates could signifitaraffect the

Company’s inventories and cost of products solthasnventory is sold or otherwise relieved.

F-10



SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTIN UED
April 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Property, Machinery and Equipment

Property, machinery and equipment are valued &t cbbe Company provides for depreciation and aixeation
using the straight-line method over the estimateeful life of the assets:

Buildings 20 years

Machinery and equipment 5-12 years

Office equipment and software 3-5 years

Tools and dies 12 months

Leasehold improvements lesser of lease term or useful life

Expenses for repairs and maintenance are chargalitty and administrative expenses as incurred.
Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs consist of costs incutedbtain the Company’s long-term debt and are &irent using
the effective interest method over the term ofrtated debt. Deferred financing fees of $303,840 $319,332 net
of accumulated amortization of $166,689 and $75,585pectively, as of April 30, 2019 and April 32018,
respectively, are deducted from long term debthenGompany’s balance sheet.

Income Taxes

The Company’'s income tax expense, deferred taxsagssel liabilities and reserves for unrecognizedhtanefits
reflect management’s best assessment of estimatiec ftaxes to be paid. The Company is subjeirtcmme taxes
in both the U.S. and several foreign jurisdictior&gnificant judgments and estimates by managementequired
in determining the consolidated income tax expessessment.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arerdeteed based on differences between financial temgpand tax

basis of assets and liabilities, and are measwsi) the enacted tax rates and laws that are eeghéetbe in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse.vdhuating the Company’s ability to recover its dedd tax assets
within the jurisdiction from which they arise, tl@®@mpany considers all available positive and nggatvidence,
including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liddx, projected future taxable income, tax plagnstrategies and
recent financial operations. In projecting futtiaable income, the Company begins with historfesults and

changes in accounting policies, and incorporatesraptions including the amount of future stateefatiand foreign
pre-tax operating income, the reversal of tempodiiffgrences, and the implementation of feasiblé prudent tax

planning strategies. These assumptions requinéisignt judgment and estimates by management ghedbrecasts
of future taxable income and are consistent withpglans and estimates the Company uses to managedierlying

businesses. In evaluating the objective evidelnaeHistorical results provide, the Company considleree years of
cumulative operating income and/or loss. Valuaatlowances are established when necessary toaathkferred

income tax assets to an amount more likely tharinbe realized.

A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position mayydwme recognized when it is more likely than naittthe position
will be sustained upon examination, including retiohs of any related appeals or litigation proessbased on the
technical merits.

The calculation of the Company’s tax liabilitievatves dealing with uncertainties in the applicataf complex tax
laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdicsaacross its global operations. Changes in taz &vd rates could
also affect recorded deferred tax assets anditiabiln the future. Except as noted below, mansags is not aware
of any such changes that would have a materiattedfe the Company’s results of operations, cashiflor financial

position.
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SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTIN UED
April 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Income Taxes - Continued

The Company adjusts its tax liabilities when itdgment changes as a result of the evaluation ofimfarnmation not
previously available. Due to the complexity of soof these uncertainties, the ultimate resoluti@y mesult in a
payment that is materially different from its cuntestimate of the tax liabilities. These diffezes will be reflected
as increases or decreases to income tax expettse period in which they are determined.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividatgncome (loss) (the numerator) by the weighteekage number
of common shares outstanding (the denominatorjhierperiod. The computation of diluted earnings gf&re is
similar to the computation of basic earnings p@rshexcept that the denominator is increasedctade the number
of additional common shares that would have bedstanding if the potentially dilutive common stoaffuivalents
such as stock options and restricted stock, had &eercised or vested. There were 53,309 and QR@Ati-dilutive

common stock equivalents at April 30, 2019 and IAR®i, 2018, respectively, which have been excluilenh the

calculation of diluted earnings per share.

Fiscal Years Ended

April 30,
2019 2018

Net los: $ (865,114 $ (3,241,87C
Weighted-average shares

Basic 4,228,59; 4,205,48.

Effect of dilutive stocloptions - -

Diluted 4,228,592 4,205,483
Basic loss per she $ (0.20 % (0.77
Diluted loss per shai $ (0.20 % (0.77

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when control optbmised goods or services are transferred taigtomers, in
an amount that reflects the consideration the Camppapects to be entitled to in exchange for tiyussls or services.
The Company’s primary performance obligation todtstomers is the production of finished goods tedeic
assembly products pursuant to purchase orders.Cohwany has concluded that control of the proditissslls and
transfers to its customers and an enforceable tighgceive payment is customarily establishedhatpoint in time
when the finished goods are shipped to its custsnuerin some cases delivered pursuant to the figakshipping
terms of each customer arrangement. With respecbmsignment arrangements, control transfers anenue is
recognized at the point in time when the goodssaigped to the customer from the consignment lonatr when
delivered to the customer (pursuant to agreed sp@ping terms). In those limited instances wHaniehed goods
delivered to the customer location are stored segregated area which are not controlled by theomes (title
transfer, etc.) until they are pulled from the semited area and consumed by the Company’s custogwenue is
recognized upon consumption. For tooling servites,Company’s performance obligation is satishéthe point
in time when the customer takes possession ofa@lierolds. For engineering, design, and testingices, the
Company’s performance obligations are satisfied tivee as the respective services are rendergd agstomers
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SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTIN UED
April 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Revenue Recognition - Continued

simultaneously derive value from the Company’s genance. From the time that a customer purchader s
received and contract is established, the Compaeyfermance obligations are typically fulfilledthin a few weeks.
The Company does not have any performance obligatiat require more than one year to fulfill.

Each customer purchase order sets forth the triosawice for the products and services purchaseter that
arrangement. The Company evaluates the credihimegs of its customers and exercises judgmemricognize
revenue based upon the amount the Company expdutsyaid for each sales transaction it entersifittoits
customers. Some customer arrangements includel@onsideration, such as volume rebates, sonmvioh
depend upon the Company’s customers meeting spagérformance criteria, such as a purchasing texesl a
period of time. The Company exercises judgmemeistamate the most likely amount of variable consitlen at
each reporting date.

The Company'’s typical payment terms are 30 daystarsdles arrangements do not contain any sigmifiinancing
component for its customers. The Company’s cust@mangements do not generate contract asseasbdities that
are material to the consolidated financial statameimhe Company generally provides a warrantyvorkmanship,
unless the assembly was designed by the Companyhich case it warrants assembly/design. The Comspa
assembles and tests assemblies based on cust@pectications prior to shipment. Historicallyetamount of
returns for workmanship issues has been de minimiker the Company’s standard or extended warranfldse
Company does not provide its customers the optiquutchase additional warranties and, therefoeebmpany’s
warranties are not considered a separate servigerfarmance obligation.

The Company utilizes the practical expedient tattrghipping and handling activities after the costo obtains
control as fulfillment activities. The Company oeds shipping and handling costs as selling andirgstrative
expenses and costs are accrued when revenue gieeo.

The Company pays sales commissions to its salesesemtatives which may be considered as incremeasts to
obtain a contract. However, since the recoverghilériod is less than one year, the Company usilthe practical
expedient provided by the new revenue recognitzmoanting standard that allows an entity to expehsecosts of
obtaining a contract as incurred.

During the twelve months of fiscal year 2019, neeraies were recognized from performance obligatatisfied or
partially satisfied in previous periods and no ameuwere allocated to performance obligations tieahain
unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at April 3001®. The Company is electing not to disclose thkies of the
remaining unsatisfied performance obligation wittuaation of one year or less as permitted by thetjcal expedient

in ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customerd.he Company had no material remaining unsatisfied
performance obligations as of April 30, 2019, vathexpected duration of greater than one year.

The following table presents the Company’s reveatisaggregated by the principal end-user markessrites:

Year Ended April 30, Year Ended April 30,
Net trade sales by e-market 2019 2018
Industrial Electronics $ 160,435,562 $ 152,166,932
Consumer Electronics 115,099,199 112,480,023
Medical / Life Sciences 15,019,190 13,484,754
Total Net Trade Sales $ 290,553,951 $ 278,131,709
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTIN UED
April 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Shipping and Handling Costs

The Company records shipping and handling costgyémds shipped to customers as selling and admaitiist
expenses. Customers are typically invoiced fopgihig costs and such amounts are included in hes$.s&hipping
and handling costs were not material to the firgrstatements for fiscal years 2019 or 2018.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurements are determined based hpaxit price that would be received to sell aretes paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betm market participants exclusive of any transactiosts. The
Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy based uperobservability of inputs used in valuation teégles as follows:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted pricestive markets;

Level 2: Inputs, other than quoted prices in actharkets, that are observable either directly diractly; and
Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there iddittr no market data, which require the reportintity to develop
its own assumptions.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments include casth eash equivalents, accounts receivable, notevaalei, other
receivables, accounts payable and accrued expwgels approximate fair value at April 30, 2019 afpril 30,
2018, due to their short-term nature. The carrgimgpunts of the Company’s debt obligations appraxénfair value
based on future payments discounted at curreniestteates for similar obligations or interest satéhich fluctuate
with the market.

The Company measured the contingent consideratidnded in the fiscal 2013 Spitfire Control, Incqaisition
under the fair value standard (primarily using leS8emeasurement inputs). The contingent consiggravas
measured and reported at fair value at each peridd The Company currently does not have any ottveifinancial
assets and non-financial liabilities that are resplito be measured at fair value on a recurringsbas

The Company entered into an Asset Purchase AgraemitbniNagz, Inc. (“Wagz") whereby the Company sakbets
to Wagz for $350,000 cash, 600,000 shares of Waas@ Common Stock and an earn-out based ontsalésgz
generated from use of the assets through July®12.2 The earn-out is $6.00 per unit of a prodpetgied in the
asset purchase agreement and any upgrade to sadilcpr The fair value of the non-cash considenagibApril 30,
2019, is $600,000 for the 600,000 shares of Wagzwon stock.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTIN UED
April 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the purchase price in excestheffair value of assets acquired in business auatibns.
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Acating Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350, “Intanfgb —
Goodwill and Other,” requires the Company to assgssdwill and other indefinite-lived intangible ats for
impairment at least annually in the absence ofditator of possible impairment and immediatelyrupa indicator
of possible impairment. The Company is permittesldption to first assess qualitative factors tieideine whether
the existence of events and circumstances indith#tdt is more likely than not that the fair valaf any reporting
unit is less than its corresponding carrying valug.after assessing the totality of events anduwnstances, the
Company concludes that it is not more likely thas that the fair value of any reporting unit isdethan its
corresponding carrying value, then the Companyoisrequired to take further action. However, i tBompany
concludes otherwise, then it is required to perfarguantitative impairment test, including compgtthe fair value
of the reporting unit and comparing that valuetgéccarrying value (the “step 2” requirement). hi¢ ffair value is less
than its carrying value, a second step of the itestquired to determine if recorded goodwill ispmred. The
Company also has the option to bypass the quaktaissessment for goodwill in any period and prdciectly to
performing thequantitative impairment test. The Company will dldle to resume performing the qualitative
assessment in any subsequent period.

For fiscal year 2018, the Company early adoptedjthi@ance contained in Accounting Standards Upg$éJ)) No.
2017-04, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 358implifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment,” hich
removes the step 2 requirement to perform a hygiottigourchase price allocation to measure goodwiiairment.
Beginning with the Company’s February 1, 2018 gotidmpairment testing, goodwill impairment is thenount by
which the Company’s single reporting unit carryiajue exceeds its fair value, not to exceed therdsd amount
of goodwill. To estimate the fair value of the Gmany’s equity, the Company used both a market gmbrbased on
the guideline companies’ method, and an incomeaagmbr based on a discounted cash flow analysis. vahe
indicated by both methods was weighted to arrivee @included value. The Company'’s fiscal year 28sk&ssment
concluded that the carrying value of the Compamyjsity was greater than the fair value of the Camplay an
amount greater than the recorded amount of thewitiaghd the Company recognized a full goodwill iaipnent
charge of $3,222,899.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of finite life myile assets including patents, trade names, dgckbn-compete
agreements, and customer relationships. Fingeidifangible assets are amortized on a straigatdasis over their
estimated useful lives of 5 years for patents, &iry for trade names, 1 year for backlog and &yeanon-compete
agreements except for customer relationships wduieramortized on an accelerated basis over thainaed useful
life of 15 years.
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NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, includingiizeble intangible assets, for impairment in adeoce with
FASB AC 360:Property, Plant and EquipmenfProperty, machinery and equipment and finite ilitangible assets
are reviewed whenever events or changes in cir@amoss occur that indicate possible impairmentevints or
changes in circumstances occur that indicate plesisitpairment, the Company first performs an impeint review
based on an undiscounted cash flow analysis dbwest level at which cash flows of the long-liveskets are largely
independent of other groups of its assets anditiabi This analysis requires management judgméiht respect to
changes in technology, the continued success dfugtdines, and future volume, revenue and expgrseth rates.
If the carrying value exceeds the undiscounted d¢msts, the Company records an impairment, if afoy, the
difference between the estimated fair value ofadget group and its carrying value. The Compartfidu conducts
annual reviews for idle and underutilized equipmemd reviews business plans for possible impaitmén the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, the Companyerttatned that the carrying value of the trade namengible asset
was not recoverable and recorded a fourth quahtmge of $690,107 for the entire carrying amourite Company’s
analysis for fiscal year 2019 did not indicate thiay of its other long-lived assets were impaired.

Settlement of Receivable, Related Sale of Assetslamestments

As more fully described in Note E — Related Payties Company has recorded an investment in Wapgyately
held company whose equity does not have a readtrohinable fair value. As permitted by ASC 3Rivestments

- Equity Securitiesparagraph 321-35-2, the Company has elected ty itarinvestment in Wagz equity at its cost
minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changesiliegsy from observable price changes in orderiyps$actions for
identical or a similar investment of the same issu#il the investment no longer qualifies to beaswred under
paragraph 321-35-2. The balance at fiscal yeaergpril 30, 2018 was $600,000 which is recordedeurother
assets. At April 30, 2019, the Company continwegttognize the fair value of the Wagz common s&i@600,000;

it reduced the fair market of the Wagz inventory$iy09,046 and it reserved as bad debt the Wagkaotaunt
receivable of $331,283.

Stock Incentive Plans

Under the Company’s stock option plans, optionadquire shares of common stock have been madebleafor

grant to certain employees and directors. Eaclomgranted has an exercise price of not less 1% of the
market value of the common stock on the date aftgr&he contractual life of each option is gengra0 years. The
vesting of the grants varies according to the iildigl options granted. The Company measures tsteof@mployee
services received in exchange for an equity awasegd on the grant date fair value and recordscthettover the
respective vesting period of the award.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to thé@qursly reported 2018 financial statements to caonfto the 2019
presentation. There was no change to net income.

Revision of Previously Issued Financial Statements

During the quarter ended April 30, 2019, the Comypidentified mechanical errors in its calculationborrowings
and payments under its revolving line of creditsprged in the consolidated statement of cash fldws.Company
assessed the materiality of these errors consgléaith qualitative and quantitative factors ancedwatned that for
the year ended April 30, 2018, the three monthggsrended July 31, 2018 and July 31, 2017, thensixth periods
ended October 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017, anditie month periods ended January 31, 2019 anchdaBl,
2018, the errors were immaterial. The Company @ectd correct these immaterial errors as revisionweviously
issued financial statements and will revise the010-Q when filed in succeeding periods of the fiszal year.

F-16



SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTIN UED
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NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Revision of Previously Issued Financial StatementSontinued

The errors had no impact to total cash flows froraricing activities, net loss or net loss per sharéghe consolidated
balance sheets or statements of operations ortsiluekes’ equity.

The effect of the revisions on the Company’s presip issued consolidated statements of cash flewshe year
ended April 30, 2018 are as follows:

Year Ended April 30, 2018
As Previously

Adjustments As Revised
Reported

Cash flows from financing activities
Advances on notes receivable $ (880,000) $ - % (880,000)
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options 96,017 - 96,017
Proceeds under equipment note 943,136 - 943,136
Payments of contingent consideration (226,014) - (226,014)
zgryeme(rannetitl;nder capital lease and sale leaseback (2,144.866) i (2,144,866)
Payments under equipment note (297,328) - (297,328)
Proceeds under building notes payable 7,000,000 - 7,000,000
Payments under building notes payable (3,741,000) - (3,741,000)
Borrowings under revolving line of credit 15,912,446 319,032,107 334,944,553
Payments under revolving line of credit (9,811,244) (319,032,107) (328,843,351)
Payments of financing fees (174,418) - (174,418)

Net cash provided by financing activit $ 6,676,729 $ - $ 6,676,729
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NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
Revision of Previously Issued Financial StatementSontinued

The effects of the revisions on the line items itthe Company’s unaudited condensed consoliddéddmnsents of

cash flows for the three month periods ended JuJy2818 and 2017, six month periods ended Octobe2(RL8
and 2017, and nine month periods ended Januar303®, and 2018 are as follows:

Three months Ended July 31, 2018
As Previously

Three months Ended July 31, 2017
As Previously

Reported Adjustments As Revised Reported Adjustments As Revised
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of common
stock options $ -$ -$ -$ 25,542 $ -$ 25,542
Proceeds under equipment note 182,557 - 182,557 636,100 - 636,100
Payments of contingent consideration (55,075) - (55,075) (45,875) - (45,875)
Payments under capital lease and sale
leaseback agreements (643,290) - (643,290) (442,472) - (442,472)
Payments under equipment note (93,798) - (93,798) (46,640) - (46,640)
Proceeds under building notes payable - - - - - -
Payments under building notes payable (70,000) - (70,000) (41,250) - (41,250)
Borrowings under revolving line of credit 5,100,005 77,379,006 82,479,011 2,676,851 85,564,315 88,241,166
Payments under revolving line of credit (177,896)(77,379,006) (77,556,902) (858,971) (85,564,315) (86,423,286)
Payments of financing fees (11,100) - (11,100) (14,631) - (14,631)
Net cash provided by financing activii $ 4,231,403 $ -$ 4,231,403% 1,888,654 % -$ 1,888,654

Six months Ended October 31, 2018 Six months Endéctober 31, 2017

As Previously

As Previously

Reported Adjustments  As Revised Reported Adjustments  As Revised
Cash flows from financing activities
Advances on notes receivable $ -$ -$ -$  (315,000)% -$ (315,000)
Proceeds from the exercise of common
stock options - - - 42,940 - 42,940
Proceeds under equipment note 182,557 - 182,557 943,136 - 943,136
Payments of contingent consideration (55,075) - (55,075) (112,151) - (112,151)
Payments under capital lease and sale
leaseback agreements (1,246,334) - (1,246,334) (966,579) - (966,579)
Payments under equipment note (196,723) - (196,723) (125,085) - (125,085)
Proceeds under building notes payable - - - - - -
Payments under building notes payable (140,000) - (140,000) (82,500) - (82,500)
Borrowings under revolving line of credit 10,690,386 161,469,547 172,159,933 9,298,262 166,947,747 176,246,009
Payments under revolving line of credit (3,785)780161,469,547) (165,255,327) (3,675,691) (166,947,747) (170,628,4
Payments of financing fees (24,197) - (24,197) (14,632) - (14,632)
Net cash provided by financing activiit $ 5,424,834 $ -$ 5424834% 4,992,700 $ -$ 4,992,700
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NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Revision of Previously Issued Financial StatementSontinued

Nine months Ended January 31, 2019 Nine months Endelanuary 31, 2018
As Previously As Previously
Reported Adjustments  As Revised Reported Adjustments  As Revised

Cash flows from financing activities

Advances on notes receivable $ -$ -$ -$ (630,000) $ -$ (630,000)
Proceeds from the exercise of common

stock options - - - 96,017 - 96,017

Proceeds under equipment note 182,557 - 182,557 943,136 - 943,136

Payments of contingent consideration (156,881) - (156,881) (175,269) - (175,269)
Payments under capital lease and sale

leaseback agreements (1,783,543) - (1,783,543) (1,536,508) - (1,536,508)
Payments under equipment note (299,648) - (299,648) (203,531) - (203,531)
Proceeds under building notes payable - - - 7,000,000 - 7,000,000
Payments under building notes payable (210,000) - (210,000) (3,671,000) - (3,671,000)

Borrowings under revolving line of credit 14,963,270 242,144,025 257,107,295 15,613,799 245,691,562 261,305,361
Payments under revolving line of credit ~ (5,856,146) (242,144,025) (248,000,171)  (7,345,462) (245,691,562) (253,037,024)
Payments of financing fees (51,198) - (51,198) (151,926) - (151,926)
Net cash provided by financing activi $ 6,788,411 $ -$ 6,788,411$% 9,939,256 $ -$ 9,939,256

New Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standargdatie (“ASU”) No. 2014-09;Revenue from Contracts with
CustomergTopic 606)” which supersedes the revenue recognition requitesnén ASC 605, Revenue
Recognition.” The guidance requires an entity to recognizeatheunt of revenue to which it expects to be ewtitle
for the transfer of promised goods or services¢asiomer, and replaces most existing revenue nitdmg guidance
in U.S. GAAP. The Company adopted the ASU on Maf(@118 using the modified retrospective transitiogthod.
Under the modified retrospective transition methibe, cumulative effect of applying ASC 606 to ahtracts that
are not completed as of the date of adoption isrdsxl as an adjustment to the opening balanceaaihes earnings
(if applicable) while the comparative periods am restated and continue to be reported under toeuating
standards in effect for those periods. The Compgwsydetermined that the amount of revenue frontracts with
customers under the new revenue recognition stdnsgléine same as under prior accounting standadsordingly,
the Company did not record an adjustment to thénbayg balance of retained earnings as a reswdopting ASC
606.
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New Accounting Standards - Continued

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016*02ases (Topic 842)", which sets out the principiesthe
recognition, measurement, presentation and dis@asfueases for both parties to a contract (@ss¢es and lessors).
This update requires lessees to apply a dual appyotassifying leases as either finance or opggdéiases based on
the principle of whether or not the lease is effedy a financed purchase of the leased asset éyetssee. This
classification will determine whether the leaseange is recognized based on an effective interetttad or on a
straight-line basis over the term of the leaseegsée is also required to record a right-of-uset assl a lease liability
for all leases with a term of greater than 12 memndgardless of their classification. This updatefiective for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2018, usingpdified retrospective approach, with early adapgermitted.

ASC 842 will be effective for the Company on May019. There are a number of optional practicakdignts made
available to simplify the transition of the newrslard. The Company has made the following elections

» to adoptthe optional transition method definedimtASU 2018-11 and not restate comparative proiogls
but instead recognize a cumulative effect adjustreetine opening balance of retained earningserptriod
of adoption;

» to elect the package of three practical expediaedtfressing whether a contract contains a leasse lea
classification and initial direct costs;

» to combine lease and non-lease components asla somgponent for all asset classes;

» to use a portfolio approach to determine the inemtal borrowing rate; and

* to apply the short-term lease exception to leasats at the commencement date, have a lease tetr® of
months or less and do not include an option to Imse the underlying asset that the lessee is rablson
certain to exercise.

During fiscal year 2019, the Company made progoesenplementing the new standard which includedeying
the Company’s businesses, assessing the Compamyfslip of leases and compiling a central repaygitof active
leases. The Company evaluated key policy electmasconsiderations under the standard which thepaagnwill
utilize to develop an internal policy to address tlew standard requirements. The Company conttouassess the
impact on its accounting policies, internal conpadcesses and related disclosures required uheeretwv guidance,
as well as its process to determine the actual atafithe required transition adjustment to reflbet balance of the
right of use asset and lease liability. These amichs may change as the Company continues toateatloe new
standard or if there are any changes in the Conmipdegse portfolio. The Company does not currebdijeve that
the standard will have a material impact on itsitef operations or cash flows.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-EXdncial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326)asleement
of Credit Losses on Financial InstrumeitdSU 2016-13 introduces a new forward-looking egach, based on
expected losses, to estimate credit losses onirteyfzes of financial instruments, including trageeivables. The
estimate of expected credit losses will requirdtiestto incorporate considerations of historicdbrmation, current
information and reasonable and supportable forecaitis ASU also expands the disclosure requirésrtenenable
users of financial statements to understand thigysnassumptions, models and methods for estirgatixpected
credit losses. For public business entities, ASUG203 is effective for annual and interim reportpegiods beginning
after December 15, 2019, and the guidance is &ppked using the modified-retrospective appro&ehlier adoption
is permitted for annual and interim reporting pdsdoeginning after December 15, 2018. The Compaucurirently

evaluating the new guidance and has not deterntimedmpact this ASU may have on its consolidatedritial

statements.

On May 1, 2018, the Company adopted the guidanctateed in ASU 2016 -15 Statement of Cash Flows (Topic
230), Classification of Certain Cash Receipts amslCPayments.”"The amendments in ASU 2016-15 are applied
using a retrospective transition method to eacliogepresented. The Company has evaluated eacheogight
specific issues addressed by ASU 2016-15. Duhediscal year ended April 30, 2018, the Compateived cash
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NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued
New Accounting Standards - Continued

settlement of insurance claims related to equiprdantaged by a fire and including replacement oéimery and
clean-up costs at one of its subsidiaries. The g2zom has classified these receipts as cash floavs &perating
activities for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018s a result of the adoption of this guidancéisoal year 2019, the
Company reclassified $251,395 of cash receipt$a@len this insurance settlement from cash flowsfoperations
to cash flows from investing activities in its statents of cash flows for the fiscal year ended |/A@%j 2018.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018*B2classification of Certain Tax Effects from Acaeuated
Other Comprehensive Incoméel’he guidance permits entities to reclassify tdeat$ stranded in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income as a result of tax refornetaimed earnings. This new guidance is effectiveafmual and
interim periods in fiscal years beginning after Beber 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted in ahand interim
periods and can be applied retrospectively or énglriod of adoption. The Company adopted this ASthe first
quarter of its fiscal year ending April 30, 2019lanhad no impact on its consolidated financiateents.

NOTE C - ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtfubaots are as follows:

- 2019 - 2018
Beginning Balance $ 300,000 $ 100,000
Bad debt expense 331,283 200,000

Write-offs - - - -
$ 631,283 $ 300,000

F-21



SigmaTron International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTIN UED
April 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE D - INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following at April 30:

2019 2018
Finished products $ 20,682,669 $ 20,404,849
Work-in-process 3,037,810 2,075,465
Raw materials 63,203,068 65,652,411
86,923,547 88,132,725
Less obsolescence reserve 1,343,972 1,202,932
$ 85,579,575 $ 86,929,793

Changes in the Company’s inventory obsolescenegwesre as follows:

2019 2018
Beginning balance $ 1,202,932 $ 1,264,924
Provision for obsolescence 268,234 -
Write-offs (127,194) (61,992)
$ 1,343,972 $ 1,202,932

NOTE E - RELATED PARTIES

In March, 2015, two of the Company’s executiveadfs invested in a start-up customer, Petzila,(ffetzila”). The
executive officers’ investments constituted lesstB% (individually and in aggregate) of the outdiag beneficial
ownership of Petzila, according to information pd®d by Petzila to the executive officers.

On April 30, 2018, the Company foreclosed on itsusity interest and held a public sale of the asseaccordance
with the requirements of Article 9 of the CalifeanUniform Commercial Code. The Company acquiréefaithe
assets of Petzila as the winning bidder at theipshle by a credit bid of $3,500,000, the aggregatount of Petzila’s
liability to the companyConcurrent with the foreclosure sale, the Compatgred into an Asset Purchase Agreement
with Wagz, Inc. (Wagz) whereby the Company soldabksets to Wagz for $350,000 cash, 600,000 shai&agz
common stock and an earn-out based on sales by Wéagrated from use of the assets through Jul2®12. The
earn-out is $6.00 per unit of a product specifiethe asset purchase agreement and any upgradehtpr®duct.

The fair value of the non-cash consideration ceedisf $600,000 for the 600,000 shares of Wagz comstock
which is recorded within other assets. The Compdetgrmined the fair value of the equity using finee per
common share received by Wagz in a recent financargsaction, a level 3 input. The Company didassign any
value to the earn-out because any receipts fronedhe-out are highly uncertain and contingent uagz selling
the product specified in the asset purchase agmemetween the Company and Wagz. Accordingly, tbengany
recognized the fair value of the assets receivech Wagz and derecognized the receivables fromIRetZhe fair
value of the assets received from Wagz was appwteim $950,000; therefore, the Company recognizkxss of
approximately $2,509,423 in its consolidated statetnof operations for the fiscal year ended Apbil 2018.
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NOTE F - PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, machinery and equipment consist of thevidng at April 30:

2019 2018
Land and buildings $ 17,158,071 $ 17,072,098
Machinery and equipment 66,390,457 61,746,650
Office equipment and software 11,008,826 10,670,918
Leasehold improvements 2,733,372 2,673,100
Equipment under capital leases 10,164,067 12,417,034

107,454,793 104,579,800

Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization, including
amortization of assets under
capital leases of $2,644,661
and $3,072,310 at April 30,
2019 and 2018, respectively 74,222,024 69,290,803

Property, machinery and
equipment, net
$ 33,232,769 $ 35,288,997

Depreciation and amortization expense of propengghinery and equipment was $5,007,440 and $5,978¢2
the fiscal years ended April 30, 2019 and April 3018, respectively.
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NOTE G - INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible Assets

Intangible assets subject to amortization are sumzethas of April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018, alldws:

April 30, 2019 April 30, 2018
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Spitfire:
Non-contractual customer
relationship 4,690,000 1,977,255 4,690,000 1,609,670
Non-compete agreements 50,000 49,385 50,000 42,245
Total $ 4,740,000 $ 2,026,640 $4,740,000 $ 1,651,915

Estimated aggregate amortization expense for tepaay’s intangible assets, which become fully ainedtin
2032, for the remaining fiscal years is as follows:

For the fiscal years ending April 30:

2020 $ 362,410
2021 354,203
2022 346,582
2023 339,128
2024 331,842
Thereafter 979,195

$ 2,713,360

Amortization expense was $374,725 and $435,04thioyears ended April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018,
respectively.

In conjunction with the May 2012 acquisition of Sipé Control, Inc., an estimate of the fair valiethe contingent
consideration, $2,320,000, was recorded basedmected operating results through fiscal year 20tbBthe specific
terms of when such consideration would be earriBdose terms provided for additional consideratiorbé paid
based on a percentage of sales and pre-tax powfitsthose years in excess of certain minimumsymeats were
made quarterly each year and adjusted after eaaheysl audit. The Company adjusted the estimatethining
payments expected to be paid under the agreemkiat) wesulted in an increase of $40,324 for theafiyear ended
April 30, 2019. Any change in the Company'’s estaiareflected as a change in the contingent denafion liability
and as additional charges or credits to sellingaaiministrative expenses. This was measured qudtesl as a level
3 fair value at each period end. The Company npagenents totaling $196,247 and $226,014 for theafigears
ended April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018, respedyiveAs of April 30, 2019, the contingent considira liability
was $57,537 compared to $213,460 at April 30, 2018.
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NOTE H - LONG-TERM DEBT

Debt and capital lease obligations consisted ofdhewing at April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018:

2019 2018

Debt:

Notes Payabl- Banks $ 35,727,212 $ 29,279,631
Notes Payabl- Buildings 6,650,000 6,930,000
Notes Payabl- Equipment 1,328,753 1,548,770
Unamortized deferred financing costs (303,310) (319,332)
Total debt 43,402,655 37,439,069
Less current maturities 691,701 655,190
Long-term debt $ 42,710,954 $ 36,783,879
Capital lease and sale leaseback obligations $ 4,802,158 $ 6,618,384
Less current maturities 1,939,374 2,320,538
Total capital lease obligations, less current parti $ 2,862,784 $ 4,297,846

Notes Payable - Banks

On March 31, 2017, the Company entered into a $B6000 senior secured credit facility with U.S. Bawhich

expires on March 31, 2022. The credit facilitycalateralized by substantially all of the Compangiomestically
located assets. The facility allows the Companghoose among interest rates at which it may boftowls: the
bank fixed rate of five percent or LIBOR plus omgl@ne half percent (effectively 4.09% at April 2019). Interest
is due monthly. Under the senior secured credititiz, the Company may borrow up to the lessefip$35,000,000
or (if) an amount equal to a percentage of thel@éigaccounts receivable plus a percentage ofltbible inventory

(the “Borrowing Base”).

On July 16, 2018, the Company and U.S. Bank entetedan amendment of the revolving line of craditer the
senior secured credit facility. The amended remglcredit facility allows the Company to borrow tgpthe lesser
of (i) $45,000,000 (the “Revolving Line Cap”) lesserves or (ii) the Borrowing Base, but no moentB0% of the
Company’s Revolving Line Cap, except that the 90%6tation will expire if the Company’s actual revalg loans
for 90 consecutive days after the amendment’s @ffeclate are less than 80% of the Company’s BdrmgvBase
and the Company maintains a Fixed Charge Coverag® Rf 1.2 to 1.0 for four consecutive quarteihe

amendment also imposes sublimits on categorigsvehtory equal to $10,500,000 on raw materials,KI®000 on
finished goods and $28,000,000 on all eligible irtoey.

On December 13, 2018, the Company and U.S. Bamkezhinto an amendment of the revolving creditlitgci The
amendment provides an exception to otherwise itdidoreign receivables for up to $3,000,000 afeigables paid
by certain enumerated account debtors outsideedf/tB. and Canada.

On March 22, 2019, the Company and U.S. Bank editiete an amendment of the revolving credit fagilitThe
amendment allows the Company to borrow up to theeleof (i) the Revolving Line Cap less reservesiipthe
Borrowing Base, but no more than 95% of the ComfzaRgvolving Line Cap until August 1, 2019 and 96#6and
after August 1, 2019. As of April 30, 2019, theras $35,727,212 outstanding and $6,645,730 of dnasailability
under the U.S. Bank facility compared to an outditagnbalance of $29,279,631 and $5,720,369 of uhasailability
at April 30, 2018. At April 30, 2019, the Compangs in compliance with its financial covenant atitko restrictive
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NOTE H - LONG-TERM DEBT - Continued
Notes Payable — Banks - Continued

covenants under the credit facility. Deferred ficiag costs of $75,083 were capitalized durindfiseal year ended
April 30, 2019, which are amortized over the terhthe agreement. As of April 30, 2019 and April 2018, the
unamortized amount offset against outstanding delst$209,162 and $192,502, respectively.

On March 15, 2019, the Company’s wholly-owned sdibsy, SigmaTron Electronic Technology Co., Ltdhtexed

into a credit facility with China Construction Bankinder the agreement SigmaTron Electronic TeagwCo., Ltd.

can borrow up to 5,000,000 Renminbi, approxima$&14#3,000 as of April 30, 2019, and the facilitg@lateralized
by Wujiang SigmaTron Electronics Co., Ltd.'s mamtfaing building. Interest is payable monthly ahd facility

bears a fixed interest rate of 6.09%. The terrtheffacility extends to March 14, 2024. There wasutstanding
balance under the facility at April 30, 2019.

The Company is in compliance with its financial enant and other restrictive covenants and antesptiat its
credit facilities, expected future cash flows froperations and leasing resources are adequatestoitsie/orking
capital requirements, and fund capital expenditmethe next 12 months. In addition, if customaesay orders,
future payments are not made timely, the Compasireeto expand its operations, its business groarg rapidly
than expected, or the current economic climateridestes, additional financing resources may beegsary. There
is no assurance that the Company will be able taiotequity or debt financing at acceptable teronst all, in the
future. There is no assurance that the Companypwiable to retain or renew its credit agreemantke future, or
that any retention or renewal will be on the saenms as currently exist

Notes Payable - Buildings

The Company entered into a mortgage agreement carileer 21, 2017, in the amount of $5,200,000, wit8.
Bank to refinance the property that serves as th@gany’s corporate headquarters and its lllinoiswifecturing
facility in Elk Grove Village, lllinois. The noteequires the Company to pay monthly principal paytsen the
amount of $17,333, bears interest at a fixed r&té¢.@% per year and is payable over a fifty-one thgweriod.
Deferred financing costs of $74,066 were capitdlizefiscal year 2018 which are amortized over téren of the
agreement. As of April 30, 2019, the unamortizeant included as a reduction to long-term debt $4%852. A
final payment of approximately $4,347,778 is dueoorbefore March 31, 2022. The outstanding balamas
$4,940,000 and $5,148,000 at April, 30 2019 andIA0xr, 2018, respectively.

The Company entered into a mortgage agreement cernilger 21, 2017, in the amount of $1,800,000, WitB.
Bank to refinance the property that serves as tmapgany’s engineering and design center in Elgiimolils. The note
requires the Company to pay monthly principal paytsén the amount of $6,000, bears interest akedfrate of
4.0% per year and is payable over a fifty-one mqmriod. Deferred financing costs of $65,381 wengitalized in
the fiscal year 2018 which are amortized over ¢nmtof the agreement. As of April 30, 2019 themogized amount
included as a reduction to long-term debt was $8!,0A final payment of approximately $1,505,00@lige on or
before March 31, 2022. The outstanding balance $a810,000 and $1,782,000 at April, 30 2019 andl/A30,
2018, respectively.
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NOTE H - LONG-TERM DEBT - Continued

Notes Payable - Equipment

The Company routinely enters into secured noteesigeaits with Engencap Fin S.A. DE C.V. to finanaephrchase
of equipment. The terms of these secured note agnets extend to November 2021 through May 2023 guitarterly
installment payments ranging from $11,045 to $3¥ 8dd a fixed interest rate ranging from 6.65%.00%o.

Annual maturities of the Company’s debt, net okdefd financing fees for each of the next five gemrd thereafter,
as of April 30, 2019, are as follows:

Fiscal Year Bank Building Equipment Total

2020 $ - % 280,000 $ 411,701 $ 691,701

2021 - 280,000 411,701 691,701

2022 35,727,212 5,786,689 381,852 41,895,753

2023 - - 114,372 114,372

2024 - - 9,128 9,128
$ 35,727,212 $ 6,346,689 $ 1,328,754 $ 43,402,655

Capital Lease and Sale Leaseback Obligations

The Company enters into various capital lease atesdeaseback agreements. The terms of the demeements
mature through January 2023, with monthly instafitrgayments ranging from $1,455 to $40,173 angefinterest
rate ranging from 3.75% to 8.00%.

Annual future minimum obligations under capitaldes and sale leaseback agreements for each ahthéve fiscal
years and thereafter, as of April 30, 2019, arlsws:

Fiscal Year Total

2020 $ 2,215,849
2021 1,792,747
2022 1,049,198
2023 133,819
2024 -
Total minimum lease payments 5,191,613
Less: Amounts representing interest 389,455
Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 4,802,158
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NOTE H - LONG-TERM DEBT - Continued
Other Long-Term Liabilities
As of April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018, the Comparad recorded $1,155,907 and $1,130,557, respdgtifor

seniority premiums and $1,067,686 and $1,052,082pactively, for retirement accounts related toefien for
employees of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.

NOTE | - ACCRUED EXPENSES AND WAGES

Accrued expenses consist of the following at ABail

2019 2018
Interest $ 171,55: $ 121,84!
Commissions 176,13! 187,93t
Professional fees 351,57! 322,37
Other - Purchases 83,14¢ 156,63:
Other 1,527,90. 2,142,00
$ 2,410,31 $ 2,930,79

Accrued wages consist of the following at April 30:

2019 2018
Domestic wages $ 2,030,15 $ 1,945,14.
Bonuses 194,35 467,30t
Foreign wages 2,455,89 1,318,30
$ 4,680,39 $ 3,730,75
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NOTE J - INCOME TAX

U.S. and foreign income (loss) before income tgpease (benefit) for the fiscal years ended Aprib8® as
follows:

2019 2018
Domestic $ 2,400,998 $ (5,906,596)
Foreign (1,534,697) 1,604,274
$ 866,301 $ (4,302,322)

Income Tax Provision

The income tax expense (benefit) for the fiscaryemded April 30 consists of the following:

2019 - 2018
Current
Federal $ 285,351 $ 433,291
State 27,577 28,296
Foreign o 531,245 - 712,846
Total Current 844,173 1,174,433
Deferred
Federal 458,572 (1,551,921)
State 134,287 (240,647)
Foreign o 294,383 - (442,317)
Total Deferred 887,242 (2,234,885)
Income tax $ 1,731,415 $ (1,060,452)
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NOTE J - INCOME TAX - Continued
Income Tax Provision - Continued

The difference between the income tax expense fiteard the amounts computed by applying the stayu
Federal income tax rates to income before tax esgéar the fiscal years ended April 30 are as Vadlo

- 2019 - 2018
U.S Federal Provision:
At statutory rate $ 181,922 $ (1,325,872)
State taxes 127,245 (151,508)
Foreign tax differential 75,990 60,302
Impact of state tax rate change 626 3,670
Foreign valuation allowance 1,216,504 -
Impact of foreign permanent items 62,544 23,106
Tax law changes - 581,222
Foreign currency exchange gain/loss 156,119 ,0622
Foreign inflation adjustment (96,749) (129,227)
Stock based compensation - 7,214 o 49,917
Provision for income taxes $ 1,731,415 $ (1,060,452)
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NOTE J - INCOME TAX - Continued
Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€tess and credit carryforwards and temporary diffees between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilitiesfiimancial reporting purposes and the amounts useihEome tax
purposes. Significant components of the deferm&dtsets and liabilities for federal, state amdifm income taxes
are as follows:

- 2019 - 2018
Deferred Tax Assets
Federal, foreign & state NOL carryforwards $ 1,196,341 $ 730,561
Foreign tax credit 78,100 78,100
Reserves and accruals 657,471 598,364
Stock based compensation 360,065 314,221
Inventory 962,525 869,471
Other intangibles 778,744 834,512
Deferred rent 83,233 114,171
Allowance for doubtful accounts 162,492 76,500
Other DTA 12,717 -
Federal benefit of state o 5,822 - -
Total Gross Deferred Tax Assets 4,297,510 391D,
Less: Valuation allowance ~ (1,294,605) - (78,100)
Net Deferred Tax Asse $ 3,002,905 $ 3,537,800
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Other assets $ - $ (3,485)
Property, machinery & equipment (2,615,868) 93,832)
Prepaids (164,598) (203,924)
Federal benefit of state o - - (22,378)
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities $ (2,780,466) $ (2,428,119)
Deferred Tax Asset $ 384,022 $ 1,109,681
Deferred Tax Liability - (161,583) - -
Net Deferred Tax Asset (Liabilit $ 222,439 $ 1,109,681

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. Government enactagrehensive tax legislation commonly referredstthe Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”). The Tax Act mselkteoad and complex changes to the U.S. tax codeding,
but not limited to: (1) reducing the U.S. federatporate tax rate from 35% to 21%; (2) changingsuklated to uses
and limitations of net operating loss carryforwatcdsated in tax years beginning after Decembe@17; (3) bonus
depreciation that will allow for full expensing gfialified property; (4) creating a new limitation deductible interest
expense; (5) eliminating the corporate alternatieimum tax; and (6) new tax rules related to fgnebperations.
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NOTE J - INCOME TAX - Continued
Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities - Continued

Due to the Tax Act, the SEC staff issued Staff Aotting Bulletin 118 (“SAB 118"), which provides glsince on
accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Act. SAB3 provides a measurement period that shouldxtehé beyond
one year from the Tax Act enactment date for congsato complete the accounting under ASC 740.ctmalance
with SAB 118, a company must reflect the incomedtigcts of those aspects of the Tax Act for whikehaccounting
under ASC 740 is complete. To the extent thatrapany’s accounting for certain income tax effedtthe Tax Act

is incomplete but it is able to determine a reabtmastimate, it must record a provisional estiniatéhe financial

statements. If a company cannot determine a pomdsestimate to be included in the financialesta¢nts, it should
continue to apply ASC 740 on the basis of the miowis of the tax laws that were in effect immedjabefore the
enactment of the Tax Act.

Due to the timing of the enactment and the comptexivolved in applying the provisions of the TaxtAthe
Company made reasonable estimates for certainteftéfcthe Tax Act and recorded provisional amountits
financial statements as of April 30, 2018. The @any completed its accounting for the tax effedtthe Tax Act
in fiscal year 2019 with no material changes toptmvisional estimates recorded in prior periods.

As of April 30, 2019, the Company does not havetoperating loss carryforward for federal incomoe purposes.
The Company has state net operating loss carryaf@iswtotaling approximately $51,000 at April 301920that will
begin to expire in fiscal year April 30, 2025. eflGompany has foreign net operating loss carryfoisvaf $5,149,000
as of April 30, 2019, which will begin to expire2023. The Company recognizes a valuation allowéfpbased on
the weight of available evidence, it is more likéhan not that some portion, or all, of a defetsedasset will not be
realized. With the exception of its foreign taxdite and foreign net operating losses describeoMpeghe Company
determined it is more likely than not that it wiBalize its deferred tax assets due to the reversdeferred tax
liabilities and forecast of future earnings. Then@pany has established a valuation allowance ofl®B8related to
its foreign tax credit carry-forward. The Compang&imate of cumulative taxable income during theifjn tax
credit carryforward period is insufficient to suppthat the tax benefit from the foreign tax cradimore likely than
not to be realized. The Company has also establiaheluation allowance of $1,216,505 on its nedraping loss
carryforwards and other deferred tax assets abtbiie Chinese subsidiaries and its Vietnam subsie. Based on
historical losses and forecasted future earning<iimpany has determined that the tax benefit Booh assets are
not more likely than not to be realized.

As a result of the Tax Act, the historic undisttibdi earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidianigisbe taxed in

the U.S. via the one-time repatriation tax in flspaar 2018. As a result of this transition taxe ompany may
repatriate its cash and cash equivalents heldstgrigign subsidiaries without such funds beindesitio further U.S.
income tax liability. Certain unrepatriated foreigarnings remain subject to local country withhoddtaxes upon
repatriation. The Company continues to apply ésnmnent reinvestment assertion on the cumulativeuat of

unremitted earnings of $9,141,000 as of April 3W2, from its foreign subsidiaries.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company has not identified any uncertain tasitfums or expects any to be taken in the CompatayXseturns.
For the fiscal years ended April 30, 2019 and ABf| 2018, the amount of consolidated worldwid®iligy for
uncertain tax positions that impacted the Compaelffexctive tax rate was $0 for each year.

Other

Interest and penalties related to tax positioneridk the Company’s tax returns are recorded iarmetax expense
and miscellaneous selling, general and adminigraéixpense, respectively, in the consolidated rset¢s of
operations. For the fiscal years ended April 3MPand April 30, 2018, the amount included in @@mpany’s
balance sheet for such liabilities was $0 for egar.
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NOTE J - INCOME TAX - Continued
Other - Continued

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. aamibus state and foreign jurisdictions. With fexceptions, the
Company is no longer subject to state, local cgifpr examinations by tax authorities for tax ydsfore fiscal year
2015. The Internal Revenue Service previously katex an audit of the Company’s fiscal year 20k3¢aurn, and
a no change letter was issued.

NOTE K - 401(k) RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN

The Company sponsors 401(k) retirement savingssplahich are available to all non-union U.S. emplks: The
Company may elect to match participant contribigiop to $300 per participant annually. The Compamributed
$96,086 and $90,744 to the plans during the figeats ended April 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018, eetipely. The
Company incurred total expenses of $11,750 and’/$DZpr the fiscal years ended April 30, 2019 apdil/80, 2018,
respectively, relating to costs associated withatthainistration of the plans.

NOTE L - MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDI T RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject ®empany to concentration of credit risk consisngipally of

uncollateralized accounts receivable. For theafigear ended April 30, 2019, two customers acalifdr 15.9%
and 15.8% of net sales of the Company, and 3.9%d a0, respectively, of accounts receivable ailA&8, 2019.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, two custes accounted for 20.2% and 13.3% of net saléseoCompany
and 6.0% and 2.9%, respectively, of accounts rabéévat April 30, 2018. Further, the Company ha81$115 in
cash in China as of April 30, 2019. Effective Mgy2015, China implemented a deposit insurancerpnogo insure
up to approximately $81,000 in deposits under @edecumstances. Funds above this amount aréinsoted by a
guaranteed deposit insurance system.
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NOTE M - OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company leases certain facilities and officgcepunder various operating leases expiring abwvariates
through April 2024.

Future minimum lease payments under leases withstef one year or more are as follows:

Operating
Years ending April 30, - Leases
2020 $ 1,808,984
2021 1,387,697
2022 757,738
2023 736,385
2024 - 42,000

Total future minimum lease payments$ 4,732,804

Rent expense incurred under operating leases wd2 %858 and $2,391,328 for the fiscal years edgei 30, 2019
and April 30, 2018, respectively.

In September 2010, the Company entered into aastate lease agreement in Union City, Californbayent
approximately 117,000 square feet of manufactuaing office space. Under the terms of the leaseeagent, the
Company receives incentives over the life of theesée which extends through March 2021. The amoftitie
deferred rent income recorded for fiscal years dnfdaril 30, 2019 and April 30, 2018 was $128,508 $103,599,
respectively. In addition, the landlord providdte tCompany tenant incentives of $418,000, which kaiag
amortized over the life of the lease. The balapicdeferred rent at April 30, 2019, was $318,56&pared to
$447,073 at April 30, 2018.

On May 31, 2012, the Company entered into a legegeaent in Tijuana, Mexico, to rent approximately2,000
square feet of manufacturing and office space. ddnble terms of the lease agreement, the Comparjves
incentives over the life of the lease, which exghine November 2018. The amount of the deferred irmome for
the fiscal years ended April 30, 2019 and April 3018 was $85,527 and $139,437, respectively. bEt@nce of
deferred rent at April 30, 2019, was $0 compare$d,527 at April 30, 2018.

NOTE N - STOCK COMPENSATION AND EQUITY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has stock option plans (“Option Plansifjer which certain employees and non-employesctirs
may acquire shares of common stock. All OptiomPlaave been approved by the Company’s shareholdeypril
30, 2019, the Company does not have shares awwaflabiuture issuance to employees under the eraplpians and
none are available under the non-employee dirgdéms. The Option Plans are interpreted and adter@d by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directofee maximum term of options granted under the @pRt@ns
is generally 10 years. Options granted under th8o® Plans are either incentive stock options @nqualified
options. Each option under the Option Plans iscs&ble for one share of stock. Options forfeiteder the Option
Plans are available for reissuance. Options gdamteler these plans are granted at an exercise gujical to the fair
market value of a share of the Company’s commocksta the date of grant.
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NOTE N - STOCK COMPENSATION AND EQUITY TRANSACTIONS - Continued

The Company granted 117,914 options to employeéisdal year 2019. The Company recognized appratéiy
$166,612 in compensation expense in fiscal yea®20he balance of unrecognized compensation egpeas $0
at April 30, 2019.

In October 2017, the Company issued 12,500 shémesivicted stock pursuant to the 2013 Non-Empdoparector
Restricted Stock Plan, which fully vested on Afril2018. In October 2018, the Company issued D2sbares of
restricted stock pursuant to the 2018 Non-Empldy&ector Restricted Stock Plan, which fully vestau April 1,
2019. The Company recognized $176,000 in compemsakpense in fiscal year 2019. The balance ofaognized
compensation expense related to the Company’'satestistock award was $0 at April 30, 2019.

The table below summarizes option activity throégil 30, 2019:

Number of Number of
securities to be Weighted- options
issued upon average exercisable
exercise of exercise at end
outstanding options price of year
Outstanding at April 30, 2017 366,763 5.85 269,863
Options exercised during 2018 (19,445) 4.94
Outstanding at April 30, 2018 347,318 5.90 347,318
Options granted during 2019 117,914 3.20
Outstanding at April 30, 2019 465,232 $ 5.22 465,232

Intrinsic value is calculated as the positive difece between the market price of the Company’sweoemstock and
the exercise price of the underlying options. Dgrihe fiscal years ended April 30, 2019 and AB@ 2018, the
aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised $@aand $35,820, respectively. As of April 30, 2@Gk®l April 30,
2018, the aggregate intrinsic value of the optiautstanding was $0 and $305,396, respectively.

Information with respect to stock options outstaigdand exercisable at April 30, 2019 follows:

Options outstanding and exercisable

Number Weighted-average Weighted-
outstanding at remaining average
April 30, 2019 contract life exercise price
Range of exercise prices
$ 3.20-6.45 465,232 6.68years $ 5.22
465,232 $ 5.22

As of April 30, 2019, there were no non-vested lstmgtions.
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NOTE O - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDIT ED)

The following is a summary of unaudited quarteihahcial data for fiscal year 2019:

First Second Third Fourth
2019 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net sale $ 71,414,057 $77,001,091 $68,852,050 $ 73,286,753
Gross profit 5,789,056 6,694,085 5,529,120 328,508
(Loss) income before income (723,613) 402,051 601(133) 1,788,996
taxes (1)
Net (loss) incom (2) (526,607) (723,941) (595,526) 980,960
(Loss) earnings per share $ (012) $ (0.18) % 0.14) % 0.23
Basic
(Loss) earnings per share $ (0.12) $ 0.17) % 0.14) % 0.23
Diluted
Weighted average shares- Basic 4,223,657 4,280,0 4,230,008 4,230,766
Weighted average shares- Diluted 4,223,657 40280 4,230,008 4,233,266

1.) The Company records inventory reserves for valaatitd shrinkage throughout the year based on taator
data. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019 git®l inventory results were completed resultingaim
increase in income before income taxes of appraoxin1,900,000.

The aggregate after-tax effect for the above adfjests in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019 wasncrease to
basic earnings per share of $0.25.

2.) The Company recorded a discrete expense of appatedyn$457,000 during the second quarter related to
a valuation allowance recorded on Net Operatingloasryforwards at two of its foreign subsidiaries.

The aggregate after-tax effect for the above adfjests in the second quarter of fiscal year 2019awaiicrease to
basic earnings per share of $0.19.
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NOTE O - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDIT ED) - Continued

The following is a summary of unaudited quarteihahcial data for fiscal year 2018:

First Second Third Fourth
2018 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net sale $ 71,224,293 $72,959,074 $65,733,723 $ 68,214,619
Gross profit 6,757,054 7,103,568 5,897,340 844,956
Income (loss) before income 580,845 1,151,454 115872) (5,918,749)
taxes (1), (2)
Net income (los: 382,882 736,115 31,338 (4,392,205)
Earnings (loss) per share $ 0.09 $ 017 $ 001 $ (1.04)
Basic
Earnings (loss) per share $ 0.09 $ 017 $ 001 $ (1.04)
Diluted
Weighted average shares- Basic 4,195,985 42014 4,209,566 4,215,258
Weighted average shares- Diluted 4,269,501 48526 4,356,509 4,215,258

1.) The Company records inventory reserves for valaadind shrinkage throughout the year based on taator
data. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018 git@l inventory results were completed resultingaim
increase in income before income taxes of appraxiing1,500,000.

2.) The Company recognized a full goodwill impairmehaige of $3,222,899, an impairment of intangible
assets in the amount of $690,107 and the writ®foffie account receivable and note receivableae!|td
Petzila in the amount of $2,509,423.

The aggregate after-tax effect for the above adijests in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018 wadecrease to
basic earnings (loss) per share of $0.55.
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NOTE P - LITIGATION

From time to time the Company is involved in legabceedings, claims, or investigations that ar@amal to the
Company’s business. In future periods, the Comganyd be subjected to cash cost or non-cash ch&wgesnings
if any of these matters are resolved on unfavortias. However, although the ultimate outcomengflagal matter
cannot be predicted with certainty, based on ptesésrmation, including management’s assessmeih®fmerits

of any particular claim, the Company does not ekffexse legal proceedings or claims will have aayemal adverse
impact on its future consolidated financial positar results of operations.
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For an EMS provider/its
size, SigmaTron provides an
extraordinary global'footprint.
With strategic locations in the
U.S. and lower-cost manufacturing
options in Asia and Mexico, our
operation is large enough to
embrace the most complex
programs, yet flexible enough
to partner closely with our
customers as we drive programs
from beginning to end. From our
decades-experienced International
Procurement Office in Taiwan to
our proprietary IT infrastructure
with local Customer Focus Teams
(CFTs), we respond in real time
and provide single-source
efficiency that meets the market

O demands of our increasingly
NAYDAR lm’“ i, sophisticated customers.

Providing a global network of manufacturing options to diverse markets is our reality today and for the future.
Whether new or established, our customers represent industry sectors that are crucial in today’s global EMS
and design services markets valued at $348 billion and growing. Below is the percentage of SlI’s net sales

to the principal end-user customer markets served in FY19.

Gaming, controls, smart grid,
welding equipment, IOT connectivity.

Automotive-vision systems,
appliances/white goods, E-writers.

MEDICAL/LIFE SCIENCES
Operating tables, battery packs,
dental equipment, sterilizers.
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